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“office2office pic {(020) is a leading provider of office supplies and business
solutions, delivering these through two key operating segments -
Managed Procurement and Business Critical Services. Our focus is to
provide our customers with sustainable savings through outsourcing their

non-core yet essential business activities” SimonMoate, Chief Executive
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Key Financials

2012 2011
Revenue £227.3m £193.5m
Profit before tax £0.7m £43m
Basic earnings per share 0.9p 120p
Underlying profit before tax! £6.5m £84m
Underlying earnings per share? 13.4p 20.7p
Operating cash flow £6.5m £10.9m
Net debt £29.0m £27.7m
Final dividend proposed R Epfelr-s?a’r': , SPEE%-SEE::;
Total dividend for the year . 2p%§;§ar:: 1 4p‘§j S%B'E

1 Profit before tax, non-recurring costs of £4 0m (2011 £2 4m), £0 Sm share option charges (2011 £0 4m}and amortisation of
intangibles of E1 2m {2011 £1 3m){refer to the Consoldated Income Statement on page 32 and note 5 on non-recurring costs/{creduts))

2 Prafit after tax {before the after tax effect of non-recurning costs share option charges and amortisation of ntangibles) dvided by the
weighted average number of Ordinary shares in 1ssue (refer to note 11 to the financial statements})
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Chairman’'s Statement

In 2012, we grew Group revenue by 17% to £227.3m (2011: £193.5m). At the same time:

* within Managed Procurement, Banner Business Services (BBS) secured market share
and out-performed contracted office products market competitors while broadly
maintaining gross profit margins;

* we fully implemented the Government Office Supplies Contract (GOSC}) thereby
expanding the number of Government departments that BBS serves;

* we developed a new supply relationship with an office products wholesale chain; and
* we continued to grow Business Critical Services.

Unfortunately, these positive steps did not prevent undertying profit falling to £6.5m
(2011: £8.4m). The principal causes of the profit reduction were confined to Managed
Procurement:

* reduced trading across the contracted office products industry impacted the Company
as well as our competitors. In BBS, our relatively higher margin contracted office
products business, revenue fell to £121.1m (2011: £126.6m) and was disappointing
throughout most of the second half of the year particularly during the Jubilee
celebrations, the Olympic and Paralympic games and in the latter part of December,
when demand fell away earlier and more markedly than we have seen before; and

* an increase in distribution cost in line with increased revenue following implementation
of the Advantia contract and a consistent change in customer demand patterns to more
frequent but lower value deliveries.

There were insufficient opportunities to compensate for these issues within the year from
activity elsewhere in the Group.

Profit before tax fell to £0.7m (2011: £4.3m) after non-recurring costs of £4.0m (2011:
£2.4m) as detailed in the Business and Financial Review and note 5 of the financial
statements.

In spite of the lower profits, net debt was held broadly in line with the previous year at
£29.0m (2011: £27.7m).
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The growth in reverue was driven by

» Managed Procurement, where revenue grewby £19 9m to
E1477m {2011 £127 8m), reflecting the launch of the
relatively lower margin Truline business with revenue of
E£26 6m {2011 £1 2m), and

» Business Critical Services, where revenue grew by £13 9mto
£796m (2011 £65 7m) While adversely mpacted to some
extent by the summmer celebrations, the full year benefit of
contracts wonin 2011 came on top of some contribution
from new contracts secured with Best Buy Europe [Carphone
Warehouse), Friends Life and Hastings Dsrect duning 2012
with expected full year revenues totalling £18m

Towards the end of 2012, we won a three year sole-supply
contract with The Royat Bank of Scotland Group (RBS} which
1s bewng served from our existing capabilities with only
marginal working capital imvestment This contract has been
fully implemented and has been trading in line with
expectations since commencement on 1 February 2013

Trading across the Group i the first quarter of 2013 has been
in line with management expectation BBS salesrates have
recovered although it1s too early to say whether this s atrend
or as a result of re-stocking after the second half of last year In
all other parts of the Group, actovity 1s in line with our plans

Business strategy

Background

Our long term goat1s to bulld a business which s restlient to
economic uncertainties and changes it workplace practices
In 2007, we recogrused the likely long term dechine in the
contracted office products market and have since fallowed a
dverstficatian strategy and business change programme to
lessen our reliance on office product supply contracts by

e acquinng and developing complementary services and
actinties,

s expanding product ranges, and

« vndening our customer base by extending into new market
areas

Since the start of 2007, we have invested cES5m in
business acquisition and start-up through business

purchase, non-recurring charges to the profit & loss account
and working capttat growth To do this we haverelied only on
operational cash flow and broadly consistent net debt
levels A further £4mhas beenalincated to capital
expenditure and £7m has been spent restructuning the
existing business to improve business efficiency by
reducing the underlying cost bass nresponse to changesin
econoric conditions

Managed Procurement

The principal business in the Managed Procurement segment is
BBS, our retatively lugher margin centracted office products
bustness Qur strategy has been to combat decline 1 the market
by retaining our existing customers through excellent service
and winning new business at the expense of competitors, while,
at the same tirae, protecting margin A major achievement was
to be appointed, under commercially viable terms, to GOSC, as
sole prowider of office products and Closed Loop™ services to
the UK Central Government This followed our wathdrawal from
the uneconomuc supply to the MeDin 2007

Using the existing Managed Procurement infrastructure,
we established Truline 1in 201 to altow us to grow in the
SME office products market by providing a comprehensive
office products supply service to an established
tndependent office products dealer group This supply
chain service has Group operations as key customers and 15
agrowing contributor to Group revenue 1n 2012, Truline's
third party sales at £26 6m (2011 £1 2m} accounted for
18% of Managed Procurement’s revenue

Business Cntical Services

The Business Critical Services segment was formed in 2008
and comprises activities which complement our office
products business In 2012, it accounted for 35% of Group
revenues and 38% of adjusted EBITA (see note 3) The two
component activities are

» Banner Managed Communication (BMC) providing
dacument and print management This is the principal
business and, in addition to opportumities inits traditional
market, it has the patential to expand into a number of
cornplementary services as customers embrace e-
documents and digital media generally, and
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Chairman’'s Statement

(continued)

» Banner Document Services (BDS) prewiding waste
document management This tncludes our innovative and
patented Closed Loop™ service and 1s growing steadily
as GOSC and other Central Government contracts are
able to transfer from their exasting facdities
management arrangements

Group customer base

The shift 1n our trading emphasis has resulted in ashiftin
the Group's customer base, historically dominated by
Government departments By the end of 2012, 68% (2011
63%) of Group revenue was accounted for by private sector
corporate customers

Business review

Insummary, this broad diversification strategy and the
consequent business development have, over the ast 5 years,
transformed o2o from a contract statoner to a leading
provider of office supplies and business selutions Furthermore
we have accomplished this whilst achieving robust gross
margwns and delivering a quality service to our customers

During the year, the Baard, withits advisors, undertook a
detailed review of the business This review concluded that
whiist the UK office products market is performing badly with
many participants weakened, 020's business s relatively robust
in a pressured enviranment Over time some industry
consolidation seems hikely and whilst the Directors will confinue
to monitor oppartunities, the currently depressed market wall
influence when and how any such opportumties anse

The market in which BMC operates, meanwhile, s relatively
buoyant and a variety of opportunities exist to grow
organically and thraugh acquisition

Trading performance

The 2012 trading performance of the business segments and
our shorter term strategy for the coming year, are discussed
inmore detatl in the Chief Executive’s Review

Results .

Revenue increased by 17% to 227 3m ({2011 £193 5m)
Whilst gross profit increased to £53 6m {2011 £55 6m), the
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overall gross margin percentage fell to 26 2% (2011 28 8%)
largely owing to the anticipated lower margin sales from the
Truline business

Underlying profit before tax fellto £6 5m {2011 £8 4m) and
undertying earnings per share were 134 p (2011 20 7p)
owing to theincrease in non-recurning ttems and finance costs

Profit before tax was £0 7m (2011 €4 3m)} and profit after

tax was £0 3m (2011 £4 3m following a small tax credit) |
Basic and fully dduted earmungs per share were the same at

09p{2011 120p}

Cash generated from operations and net debt

Cash generated from operations reduced to £6 5m (2011
E10 9mj reflecting reduced profitability and higher finance
casts following higher average levels of barrowing due to
imptemmentation costs and net working capital investment to
support the start up of the Truline activity, compounded by
increased borrowing costs after renegotiation of facilities in
2011 Netindebtedness increased to £29 0m (2011

£27 7m) and has been generally ugher throughout the year

During the year, the Group’s banking facilities were increased
ta £50 5m These mature in June 2015 after staged
repayments and are based on competitive terms, interest
rates and arrangement fees

Dividend

The Board believes that the payment of dividends shoutd be
closely linked to affardability and the Group's trading
prospects While we remain confident about the Group's
trading prospects, albett in a challenging market, we have
decided to recommend a reduced final dvidend payment to
reflect the current lack of earnings cover We are also
reviewing our forward dividend palicy 1 order to ensure that
we strike the best balance between promoting shareholders’
short and long term interests

We recommend a final dvidend of 3 6p per share {2011

7 8p) When combined with the interum divedend paid on @
November 2012, this makes a total dividend per share of
72p{2011 11 4p}and amountsto a total distnbutien of




£26m (2011 £4 1m) The total dwvidend paid and payable for
the year 13 not covered by earnings {2011 1 1 times)but s
covered by underlying earnings 2 5 times (2011 2 0 times)

If approved at the annual general meeting (AGM), the final
dividend wilt be paid on 11 July 2013 to shareholders on the
register at the close of business on 17 May 2013

Employees

Our employees have continued to work hard during another
challenging year | would like to thank our staff for keeping the
momentum going and thewrr commitment to the Group

Board changes

We recently announced the appointment of Hugh Cawley as
Group Finance Director wath effect from 25 February 2013
Hugh has held a number of senor executive and financial roles
where he has consistently played akey partin driving
performance and strategic change

Mark Cunningham resigned from the Board on 30 January
2013 and on behalf of the Board | thank Mark for his
contribution to the Company and wish him welt for the future

Dutlook

Trading acrass the Group in the first quarter of 2013 has
been in line with management expectation BBS sales rates
have recovered and in all other parts of the Group, activity1s
i {ine with plan

Whilst early trading in BBS has been encouraging (t s too
early to say whether this1s a trend or as a result of re-
stocking after the second half of last year We donot
conclude that the contracted offwce products market has
recovered Volume decline and the change inbuying patterns
have been apparent over recent years and, whilst our success
te date in securing new contracts and mamntaiing margins
helps to mitigate these effects, the market decline seems
tikely to continue

However, we believe there remain strong prospects inour
business

e the newRBS contract came an stream in February and has
been wmplemented without disruption or additionat cost,

e our more recent Trultne business 1s now established in
the SME sector and s attracting interest from other
dealers and

« the Business Critical Services segment continues to grow
and provides us with opportuntties to expand ina number
of directions within the historic as well as the emerging
digital communications markets

Consequently, we are pleased that against the background of
currently unfavourable contracted office products market
conditions, o2o remans in a relatively strong pesition to
exploit opportunitias as they arise

Publication of half yearly financial reports

With effect from this year and naccordance withDTR 4 2 2,
we will publish our half yearly financial reports on our website
foltowing disclosure via a regutated news service (RNS) Hard
coptes wilf be posted to shareholders only on request

AGM

The AGM will be held at the Company's head office, St
Crispins, Duke Street, Norwichon 22 May 2013at 930 am
Notice of the AGM is included within the annuat report and
finanoial statements and wall be trculated, together with the
proxy forms, for use at the AGM

D} Callear
Chatrman

25 March 2013
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Chief Executive's Review

A great deal of progress has been made during the year, having delivered a robust revenue
performance, notwithstanding our reporting a reduction in underlying profit.

In the first haif we implemented two significant but very different Managed Procurement
contracts. Operational issues were experienced and were swiftly addressed, althcugh not
without additional costs being incurred as reported previously. By the end of May the

situation was fully resolved.

In the last quarter, BBS's success in winning a prestigious contract with RBS was a particular
highlight. A dramatic drop in BBS sales volumes just before and over the Christmas period,
however, was exacerbated by an inability to complete scheduled deliveries because of early
customer business closures Whilst we have good prospects elsewhere in the business, the
proximity to year end impeded any opportunity to mitigate the adverse impact of this unusual

trading period.

Managed Procurement - revenue £147.7m
{2011: £127.8m); adjusted EBITA £11.2m
{2011: £13 Om) See note 3 to the financtal statements

Banner Business Services

Weak market demand, despite the benefit of GOSC, resulted
inBBS revenue slipping to £121 Im (2011 £126 6m) The
global office products industry has been directly affected by
the recession and customer austerity measures have brought
about tighter budgets, changes \n the workplace and a
generally increased awareness of costs in the UK, this was
exacerbated during the year by the greater than anticipated
impact of a UK workforce warking abnormally during the
Jubdee and Olympic celebrations InLondon alone, fora 5
week period, BBS sales volumes were down by some 28%, as
aresult of fewer people in the office workplace

Softer revenue volumes together with a shuft from higher margin
nor~core sales to lower margin core sales prompted early action
by BBS to protect gross margin This action was successfuland
gross margins were broadly held at 28 5% (2011 28 8%j)

To mitigate the impact of the continuing decline in the
contracted office products market, our strategy 1s to
continue to gain market share Secuning a mult-million pound
sole-supply contract with RBS based on our open book pricing
model, was a sigmficant boost The contract s ex-works and 1s
serviced from the Group's existing capabilities BBS's
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significant experience of serving financial institutions paved
the way for a smooth implementation of the R85 contract
which went live on 1 February 2013 and s currently trading in
line with expectations

What has become apparent Is that forecasting BBS sales per
working day 15 nolonger a reliable exercise Changes inthe
workplace and tighter budgetary controls resulted i a higher
number of low value orders during the year, leading to more
volatite and unpredsctable order input patterns We are
working to try and ensure that our customers, in therr own
interasts and ours, reduce the frequency of delveries by
consolidating thewr requirements

Truline

After its start up in 2011, Truline secured a four year contract
to provide supply chain services to the Advantia dealership
network with effact from 1 January 2012 The launch of this
contract, which was effectively the simultaneous
implementation of 44 individual contracts, was not without
1ssues Limited customer information mitsally led to our holding
the wrong stock and stock being held at the wrong locations,
both of which resulted in additional aperational actwvity to get
the night goods to the right place at the right time As indiadual
dealers had closed warehouses and transferred drivers from
day one, it was critical that service levels were maintaned and
significant additional temporary resource was employed in the
early phase of the contract, resulting in one-off implementation




costsof £1 9mbeing incurred The situaticn was stabilised by
the end of May and has since been operating to plan

Trubine’s sales revenues were within expectations at £26 6m
{2011 £1 2m)and accounted for almost a fifth of Managed
Procurement’s revenue Initia} gross margins were disappointing
but recoveredin the second half of the year, after the contracted
quarterly review of product sales prices and costrecharges, to
an overall gross margin for the year of 15 19%(2011 7 4%)
With the Advantia contract settled, Truline was able to focus on
anearlier decision to close a non-core transport activity owing to
its poor financial performance This activity had been subsumed
by Truline and 1ts closure during the second half of the year
resulted in non-recurning costs of £E6 7m

Trulne's business model is scalable and sustainable and
provides a selid base for our further expanston into the SME
market without further capital investment Interest from the
industry 1s high and we are selecting new dealers who will fit
with the Truline model

Business Critical Services - revenue £79.6m
(2011. £65.7m); adjusted EBITA £7.0m (2011.
£7.0m). See note 3 to the financiol statements

Banner Managed Communication

Established following the acquisition of AccessPlus in 2008
and by the acquisition and integration of TPF 1 2010, BMCis
now a key player in the growing Business Process Outsourcing
(BPO) market It detivered strong revenue growth witha 19%
increase to £75 Bm (2011 £63 5m) and now accounts for
one third of the Group's total revenue

Building on this growth, 2013 will benefit from a full year's
trading from a further three sigmficant contracts secured
during 2012, together worth £18m per annum Best Buy
Europe (Carphone Warehouse), Friends Life and Hastings
Direct came on stream towards the end of 2012 and, as
usual, implementation costs temporarily suppressed in-
year contribution

BMC predominantly serves private sector custormners in the UK
and internationally Recagnition of our success in this came in
July 2012, when BMC was included on 3 spetialist lists of
‘Internationat Association of Outsourcing Professionals' (IAGP)
annual ranking of the ‘World's Best Outsourcing Providers’

We believe that BMC provides us with a number of exciting
oppertuntties for future growth

Banner Document Services

Banner Document Services (BDS) s our secure document
destructian service operating Closed Loop™, a fully auditable
recycling solution for customers Closed Loop™ was a key
factor in securing GOSC and, although initial progress has
been slower as Central Government departments unravel
existing document destruction services from theur incumbent
arrangements, 1t 1s now growing steacily Revenue increased
by 72% in the year to £38m {2011 £2 2m)

We seek to extract additional value from our Closed Loop™
wntellectual praperty and have very recently concluded a
Licencing arrangement with our sub-contractor for operations
tn Narthern |refand

2013 operating objectives

Economic uncertainties remain and maintairung a hyghly
efficient operating platform 1s essential for stability and
future growth

While we fook to maximise market opportunities, we continue
to drive internal efficiencies to ensure we stay in the best
possible operational shape

The marked change in buying patterns towards a 'Lttle and
often’ approachis clear For the 20% increase in despatched
salesin 2012, 35% more lines were picked and over 50%
more deliveries were made We are workang harder to achieve
propartionately less return Despite record productivity
levels, we constantly monttor activity and improve operational
KPl reporting to hughlight 1ssues as they arise

Current focus 1s onimprovements to our back office functions
todentify unnecessary processes and to implement new
cost-effective methods Ultimately, we aim to transform the
way our back office supperts our revenue generating
activities

S R Moate
Chief Executive

25March 2013
o020 plc Report and Accounts 2012

7]



Business and Financial Review

Revenue and profit

Total revenue was £227 3m (2011
£193 5m} Undertying profit before tax
was £6 5m (2011 E8 4m) befare non-
recurring costs of £4 Om {2011 £2 4m),
amortisation of intangibles relating to
acquisitions of £1 2m (2011 £1 3m)
and share optwon charges of £0 5m
{2011 £06 4m) Operating profit before
suchcosts was £86m {2011 £10 Om)
and operating profit after such costs
was £28m (2011 £58m) Profit
before tax, after suchcosts,was£07m
{2011 £4 3m) and profit after tax was
£03m{2011 E4 3m) The underlying
profit margin was 2 9% (2011 4 3%])

Non-recurring costs are those
significant ttems that by virtue of ther
size or incidence are separately
disclased to enable a better
understanding of the Group’s operating
performance Asignificant proportion,
£19m ({2011 £07m) relate to
exceptional logistics operations to
ensure the maintenance of customer
service levels in the early stages of the
Advantia contract The remawnder are
principally one-off items to improve
efficiencies across the Group and
reshape the business in line with 1ts
dwersification strategy restructuring
and business integration related
charges, £1 5m{2011 £1 7m), and
£06m (2011 £nl)of business closure
and disposal costs of non-core
activities A full analysis of the non-
recurring costsis set out in note 5 to the
financial statements

Tax

A full analysis of the tax charge for the
year s set gut in note 9 to the financual
statements

The Group's effective tax ratein 2012
was 52 5% (2011 negative 0 5%} The
high effective rate in 2012 ts pnimartly
attributable to expenses not deductible
for tax purposes of £141,000 and the
impact of adjustments i respect of prior
year estimates of £88,000 The lower
effective tax raten the prior year
related to the utilisation of previously
unrecognised brought farward trading
losses of £522,000, the recogmition of a
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deferred tax asset inrespect of trading
losses available for offset in future
periods of £241,000 where there 1s now
certainty that these losses canbe offset
agawnst future taxable wncome, and the
impact of adjustments in respect of prior
year estimates of £245,600 The Group
has a further £452,000(2011
£491,000) of non-trading losses where
no tax asset isrecognised as there 15
currently no expectation that these non-
trade losses can be of fset against future
profit streams

The amount of corparation tax pad
during the yearis £0 3m (2011 E0B8m)

The effective tax rate in the near future
1s anticipated to be stmilar to the
standard rate of UK corporation tax

Shareholders’ return

Basicand diluted earnings per share
were 0 9p (2011 120p)with
underlying earmngs per share of 13 4p
(2011 20 7p} The total dividend paid
and payable for the year of 7 2p per
share{2011 11 4p), including the 3 6p
interim dividend (2011 3 6p) paidon 9
November 2012, ts not covered by
earnings (2011 1 1times)butss
covered by underlying earnings 25
times (2011 20 times) Shareholders'
equity at the end of the year was
£195m ({2011 £228m)

The middie market quotation of the
Company's Ordinary shares at the end of
the financial year was 124 Opwith a
market capstalisation of £45 Om
(including shares held by the employee
benefit trust}

Cash flow

As set out on page 37, the Group
generated net cash from operating
actwities of £4 2m {2011 £88m) At
31 December 201 2, net debt amounted
to £290m, an increase of £1 3m from
£27 7m at the start of the year

The net debt of £29 Om is supported by
borrowing facthties of £50 5m
commutted untd June 2015 The
facilities comprise a term loan of

£17 5mrepayable over 5 years with the
next instalment of £0 S5m due in May

2013 arevolving credit facility of

£2 Om averdraft facilities of £4 Om,
and an tnvolce discounting arrangement
of up to £27 Om Financial covenants
are applied to the committed facilities
and the Group has continued to comply
wath these with significant headroom

Key contractual arrangements

The Group has always had a number of
large customers With our major
customers, our approach 1s to seek long
term, strategic relationships, based on
managed services and shared interests
The term for a typical supply
arrangement 1s between three and five
years and we enjoy a record of
consistent contract retention

Akey aim for the Group has been to
entarge and diversify its customer base
This has been achieved both organically
and by taking advantage of suitable
acquisition opportunities As a
consequence the Group's rebiance on any
one individual customer has been
reduced

The GOSC framework, under which we
supply abroad range of central
Government departments, comprise a
number of separable contractuat
relationships and we do not therefare
consider it to be with asingle customer

The Group has a wide range of suppliers
and it 1s possible that the challenging
eccnomic conditions could impact some
However, the Group has hmited expasure
to the fallure of any single supplier as the
nature of the majonty of products
purchasedis such that other supply
options are normally reachly avadable
The Group maintatns flexibility withits
suppliers by typrcally not making
contractual volume commitments

It1s the Group's policy to negotiate with
each of its principal supphiers terms of
trade appropnate to the business and to
operate within those terms once agreed
Gwven the wide range of suppliers, the
terms of trade operated by the Group
are diverse, with no standard
characteristics prevaiing

The Group works n partnership with
suppliers toensure, as far as




reasonably practicable, that its
sourcing of praducts meets recognised
standards of corporate socal
responsibility {CSR) The CSR
statermnent on page 11 describes the
approach o2o takes i this respect

Principal nsks and uncertainties

The principal nsks and uncertainttes
facing the Group are set ocut below

e Loss of alarge customer

The Group has a number of large
customers and is, therefore,
potentially vulnerable to the loss of
any one of these Contingency plans
are farmulated and quantified before
any large re-tenders are submitted so
that the business 15 able to respond
rapidly, with mimmal disruption, to a
large contract loss This, coupled with a
strategy of diversifying the customer
base and widening the business
portfolio at the same time as
maintaining a high level of service,
helps mitigate the exposure

» Reductionin gross margins

Gross marguns are adversely affected
by product cost increases, owing to raw
material costs, foreign currency
exchange movements and customers’
reducing therr demand The Group has
sought ta mitigate this umpact by
passtng cost Increases on to
customers, but some resistance and
{ag1s nevitable Our experience has
shown that widening the Group's
portfolio of business products and
services and driving efficiency

improvements help reduce the risk and
a focus on customer profitability
altows for the situation to be
momtored Our open book pricing
model which offers customers
transparency in their procurement and
the benefits of 02o's purchasing scale,
alsa reduces o02a's exposure to
commodity price fluctuations

¢ |nterruption of operations or IT
services

The business is built around a proven
sarvice withreliance on our warehouses
and IT infrastructure A severe
disruption in either of these areas could
have a significant (mpact on the Group
In order to mitigate these risks we
maintain appropriate disaster recovery
plans and insurance cover

s Competitors

The Group operates in a highly
competitive market The risk exists,
therefore, that contracts are awarded
on the basis of lowest price Qur
strategy 1s to deliver a wide range of
first rate, added-value services at
cormpetitive prices Recent contract
wins and retentions help demonstrate
that this approach s valued by our
customers across the Group

» Economic backdrop

The Group s affected by economic
slowdown with the weakening of sterling,
far instance, leading to cost price
pressure and the potential that lower
levels of actwvity lead to reduced demand
far some of the goods and services

provided by the Group This was
particularly evident wath the shortfallin
public sector sales volumes as a
consequence of Government austerity
measures inaddition, economic
arcumstances affect suppliers

However, the Group has hmited expasure
to the failure of any single supphier since,
for the majority of products purchased,
alternative sourcing or product options
are normally available

The Group's commutted korrowing
facilities afford some protection
against increased funding
requirements should they arise In
addition, the wide spread nature of our
customers and the public sector
element of our account base helps to
mitigate risks in the wider economy

¢ Financial sk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a
variety of financial nisks, which include
market risk (comprising currency risk,
commaodity price risk, cash flow and farr
value interest rate risk), credst risk and
hquidity risk, the detads of which are
described nnote 1 to the financial
statements

o Working capital management

!
|
The risk from lirmited avadability of |
further capital could constrain the growth }
of the bustiess The Group mitigates this

risk by regular monitoring of cash flow |
and funding requirements to ensure |
suffictent undrawn facidities are inplace |
to service its operating activities \
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Key performance indicators (KPls)

Overall measurement of the financial performance of the operating segments, Managed Procurement and Business
Critical Services, is based on adjusted earnings before interest, taxation and amortisation (EBITA) Details can be
found in note 3 to the financial statements

Individual KPis which 020 uses to measure business performance are gross profit, distribution costs, admimstration
costs and underlying profit, alt expressed as a proportion of revenue, underlytng earnings per share and net debt

2012 2011
o

Gross margin % 262% 288%
Gross margin percentage 1s grass profit expressed as a percentage of revenve It is the measure of sales

profitabihity after related direct purchase costs and 1s @ measure comparable with other companies

In the Managed Procurement division the impact of the Truline wholesaler business at lower margins

has changed the sales mix

Distribution cost % 98% 95%

The distribution cost percentage 15 the cost associated with distribution {before £2 9m of
non-recurning costs {201 1 Enil}) expressed as a percentage of revenue

Changes wn the sales mix and customer requirements have increased the distnibution cost percentage

Admimstration cost % 126% 141%

The admimistration cost percentage 1s the cost associated with administration (before £1 1m of
non-recurring costs (20171 £2 4m) amortisation £1 2m {2611 £1 3m), and share option charges
£05m (2011 £0 4m)} expressed as a percentage of revenue

Efficiencies and an increase in revenue are reflected here

Underlying profit % 29% 43%

The underlyng profit percentage ts the underlying profit {before non-recurring costs amortisation and
share option charges) expressed as a percentage of revenue

In addition to the gross margin effect there was a £0 6m increase in finance costs following the
renegotiation of loan facthties in May 2011 and a full year of higher mterest rates

Underlying earnings per share 134p 207p
Underlying earnings per share 1s the profit on ordinary activities after tax (before the after tax effect of

nan-recurring costs amortisation and share option charges) divided by the weighted average number of

Ordinary shares nssue during the year

The underlying earmngs per share decreased as a result of the reductionn underlying profit as
explained above

Net debt £290m £277m
Net debt s calculated by subtracting cash and cash equivalents from the long and short term borrowings

Net debt increased by £1 3m largely as a result of anincrease in working capital requirements for the
start-up of the Truline actimty

HC L Cawley
Group Finance Director

25 March 2013
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Corporate Social Responsibility Statement

o020 s committed to upholding its ‘good
for you, good for us, good for everyane’
trading ethos CSR s important to o2o
because it ts important to 020's
customers, staff and shareholders It
also makes good business sense,
leading to greater efficiency, lower
costs and improved competitiveness

Workplace

Almost 1,000 pecple are employed
across the Group and thetr experience,
skills and cammitment are critical to
020’ success As well as providing them
with a safe and healthy working
envirenment, o2o premotes a positive
nternal culture that both challenges its
employees and allows them to chatlenge
what they do, openly and constructively

Employees

o2o recognises the individual needs of
its employees For example, it supports
warking parents by operating childcare
schemes and offering flexible working
arrangements subject to the operattonal
needs of the business

The Company ensures that its
employees are kept aware of changes in
employee related legislation and runs
Group-wide awareness training
programmes when appropriate Recent
examples have covered diversity
awareness in response to the Equality
Act 2010 and an understanding of anti-
corruption measures to ensure
comphance with the Bribery Act 2010

The Group intranet has become an
important communication link with the
Group's employees and tt continues to
grow inscope as employees becorme more
familiar with1t 020 news 1s published on
the site's home page and a wide range of
departmental and corporate policies are
available for downltoad

Health & Safety

02015 commutted to ensuring the health
and safety of its employees and a health
and safety report 1s delivered to the
Board on a monthly basis Fire, manual
handling, display screen equipment and
workplace task-specific risk

assessments are conducted at each site
and all delivery drivers undertake an
internet-based road safety course

All sites now operate under an OHSAS
18001 certified health and safety
management system, audited by BS1 No
major non-conformities were recerded
inthe 2012 audits

Annual workplace inspections are
undertaken by an independent
assessor with follow up visits to
ensure that all corrective actions have
been completed Owing to a change of
external assessor during the year,
perfarmance ratings and industry
comparisons are no longer conducted
Internal observation and legal
compliance audits are undertaken by
the o2o quality, enviranment, health &
safety (QEHS) teams at all sites and
this has led to the development and
group-wide availability of user friendly
web pages on specific QEHS aspects

Our 5 main sites are enrolled with the
British Safety Council {(BSC), improving
access to information and traming
modules Both of our Guildford and
Manchester sites have won Internationat
Health and Safety Award {with Meru)
fram BSC based on their work practices
and health and safety culture

All our employees recewe health and
safety awareness traimng and 020
health and safety procedures are
available on the Group intranet A health
and safety group, comprising employees
from different levels and functions, 1s1n
place at every o2o location, with
responsibility for conducting reviews of
current practices and taking any
corrective action necessary Our semar
operations managers are tramned to BSC
Level 2 and all members of the Head
Office health and safety group have
attained BSC Level 1 certificate

Community

o2o recognises that it has a
responsibility towards the wider
community and 1s particularly proud of
the efforts of its employees to raise
funds for chanty

Work experience placements are of fered
to students and, wherever practicable,
preferences given to local businesses
when outsaurcing services such as
catering, cleaning and recruttment

020 has anestablished charity
committee to help o 2o employees
contribute to community and charitable
events by encouraging and co-
ordinating fundraising across the
Group Ithasdelivered an array of
activities, including office 'dress down’
days, cakesales, raffles and various
sponsored events to benefit local
causes and numerous chanties

Product marketplace

020 takes seriously CSR imitiatives for
its products The Group ensures good
pract:ce throughout its supply chatn
and helps its custamers to do likewise

Ethical sourcing

o020 sources products on a global basis
and encourages all of its suppliers to
operate environmental management
systems 02o will not knowangly trade
with organisations that behave ina
manner that s unethical or
irresponsible

In particular, 020 takes proactive steps
to audit the ethical performance of
suppliers who manufacture the Group's
own brand products First, 020152
member of Sedex, the supplier ethical
data exchange In addition, 020's buyers
vistt suppliars’ factories overseas and
use S5GS, an independent assessor, to
ensure compliance with the Ethical
Trading Inthative’s base code which s
founded on the conventions of the
Internationat Labour Orgamisation and is
aninternationally recogrised code of
labour practice

Green OPTIMISA™

The Green OPTIMISA™ system enables
customers to calculate the
environmental impacts of their contract
with 020, including the use of paper, CO,
emisstons and transport {fuel
consumption) This 1s important to many
o020 customers and the system
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Corporate Social Responsibility Statement (continued)

therefore adds value commerciatly, as
well as froma CSR perspective

Environmentally preferred products

oZo operates the Globe & Tick™
accreditation scheme, which makes it
easy for customers to select
environmentally preferred products

The range of ‘green alternatives’ now
conststs of over 1,500 products for
every area of the workplace, fromoffice
supphes to catering, technology to
promotional items Globe & Tick™
products constitute aver 18% of the
lines cantained within the 020 catalogue
for 2013

All Globe & Tick™ products are audited
against independently set critena
before they are showcased inthe o 2o
Green Guide, which s published
annually The Green Guide also
incarporates information on other
sustalnatile products and services and
how customers can minimuse the impact
of thewr day to day workeng practices on
the environment

oo are certified members of both the
Forest Stewardship Councd {FSC) and
the Prograrmme for the Endersement
of Forest Certification (PEFC)
promoting responsible and sustatnable
forest management

Fairtrade 1s designed to give
disadvantaged farmers a guaranteed
price for products that meet
internationally agreed standards
Ranforest Alhance focuses an
standards covering worker protection,
their environment and ther
communities Arange of Fairtrade and
‘Rainforest Allance certified’ catering
supplies are included in 0 20’s catalogue

Catalogues and brochures

Alt of 020’s main catatogues are
printed on paper made from 100%
recovered waste Surplus catalogues
are always recycled and the use of
electronic catalogues (s promoted
wheraver posstbla

Recycling services

02o offers a portfolio of recycling

02¢ plc Report and Accounts 2012

services, notably waste paper through
1ts Clased Loop™ service

Having supplied its customers with
copier paper, the Closed Loop™ service
collects the waste paper, securely
shreds it, and a leading paper mill then
converts it back into copter paperto be
used agawmn by the customer, thereby
‘closing the loop’

Over 2 8 milion reams have been
produced equating to a saving of
120,000 trees, a reduction n L0,
emissions of 4,722 tonnes, a reduction
in energy consumption of 56 B mitlion
kilowatts, and a reductton in water
consurnption of 316 milkon litres

Closed Loop™ has won several
accolades since its inceptionincluding
a Green Apple Award n 2010, a
Bronze Zere Waste Award in 2012 and
mare recently a Tomorrow's FM award
It was also key to the business
securing the title of ‘Recycling and
Waste Management Large Business of
the Year'in 2012 More information
can be found on the webstte

www bannerclosedloop co uk

In addition, 020 offers the safe disposal
of batteries, printer cartridges,
unmfarms, office furmiture and
technology products

Environment

o2o operates an environmental
management system that has been
certified to the internatonal
standard IS0 14001 2004 and has
made significant progress in reducing
the environmental impact of its
bustness activities

Waste management

020 15 a natonal distributor of
business products and aims to keep
packaging to a mimmum through a
combunation of iImproved box
utilisation, larger product pack sizes
and customer education regarding the
environmental benefits of
consolidating orders Towards the end
of 2012, 020 introducedits
trademarked recyclabox™, a sturdy but

easily collapsible box made from
160% recycled card Recyclabox™1s
used for all deliveries and customers
are encouraged to return the folded
boxes to the drivers to be re-used
agawin and again

Where possible, 0 20 utilises e-commerce
to reduce the amount of paper used In
the transaction process The Group
trades with most of its larger customers
and suppliers electronically

Recycling

All of 02¢c's distributson hubs have
procedures torecycle waste matenals
Anew ‘backloading' process ensures
that waste cardboard and shrinkwrap 15
taken back to a20's warehouses for
recycling, using the same trunker vehicle
that delwvers goods for onward
shipment to customers Drinks cans and
plastic bottles are alsa recycled

In November 201 2, the Manchester
distribution centre achieved 'zero
landfilt' status assisted by White
Recycling Limited Al general waste
from this site 1s now 100% recycled
White Recycling Lumited collect the
waste and further segregate items for
recyching with any residual waste going
through its waste exchange operation
transforming waste into quality
secondary fuels of vared specifications
for avariety of end users A simular
setution 1s baing investigated for 02a's
other distribution hubs

Qverall, the volume of cardboard and
paper recycled in 2012 was in excess
of 420 tonnes {2011 380 tonnes) and
the volume of plastic that was recycled
increased to over 60 tonnes

(2011 50 tonnes)

Energy maragement

The investments made by 020w 2011
to increase the efficiency of the heating
and lighting system and improve energy
usage resulted in sigmficant reductions
in CO, emissions i that year which have
beenmantained in 2012 The
Manchester distribution centre
benefited from an ay source heat pump
which converts air drawn from the




atmosphere inta a source of heat for use
tn radiators and, i the Basingstoke
warehouse, a new heating systemwith
down fans was installed Low energy
lighting was also fitted throughout these
sites During the year, movement sensors
were fitted to ight fittings within the
office and warehouse of our new Barking
hub to help reduce energy usage

In 2012, atotal of 1,050 tonnes of CO;
were emitted by 020's largest sies
(Manchester, Basingstake, Swinden and
Norwich} in relation to gas and
electricity usage, representing a slight
\ncrease on prior year consumption
across the same sites owing to
additional heating in what was an
unusually cold and wet spring but
upholding the improvements made since
2010(2011 1,038 tonnes, 2010
1,245 tonnes)

Aproject to align energy suppliers’
contracts was undertaken in 2012
Suppliers now provide smart-enabled
technology to give real-time
consumption information and a phased
transfer to renewable electnicity source
1s underway Ten of our depots were
transferred during the year and the
remaining ten will be switching over in
2013 Inaddition, all contracts were
made coterminous, to facilitate
administration, renewals and tendering

Carbon management The company car scheme encourages
staff to select cars from a defined range
of low emission vehicles and video and
telephone conferencing are used to
minimise the need for business travel

As anational distributor, 0 2o operates
its own in-hause fleet of delivery
vehicles In addition, since 2010, the
fleet has performed a large number of
palletised delwveries for The Pallet
Network (TPN} CO; emisstons
generated by the fleet were 5,801
tonnesn 2012 {2011 4,657 tonnes)
reflecting a full year of deliveries for the
GOSC and Advantia contracts However,
o2o employs a number of Initiatives to
maximise efficiency and minimise the
environmental impact of the fleet

A four year renewal scheme means that
the most up-to-date, clean running and
fuel efficient vehicles are available The
HGV vehicles are Euro 5 compliant,
having sloping roof trailers and
aerodynamic bodies to minimise fuel
usage and utiising selective catalytic
reduction to minimise pollution Almost
all of the vefucles are diesel and some
are fitted with stop start technology
which switches the engine off when the
vehicle has aprolonged stop Journeys
are optimised by means of a
sophisticated fleet management
system and Navman tracking Double
deck tratlers are used to transport
larger quantities of goods 1na single
journey Back-loading arrangements
exist whereby delivery vehicles collect
stock on their return to the warehouse
in an otherwise empty vehicle
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Board of Directors
David Callear Chairman

Dawid aged 59 15 a Chartered Accountant and joined 2o as Chairman in January 2001 His
career has been n financial and general management with both publicly quoted companies
ncluding chief executive positions with TIP Europe plc (Europe-wide vehicle rental) and Jeyes
Group ple {internatianal household products manufacture and supply) and private equity
ventures During the year he held a number of non-executive chairman rales working wath the

boards of private companies including R P Martin Holdings Limited

Simon Moate Chief Executive

Simnon aged 50 joined 020 as Chief Executive in July 2007 Hewas previqusly an executive
director of Johnson Service Group ple, the managed servicesbusiness where, as chief
executive of the faciities management and specsalist supplies division, he led and integrated a
number of acquisitions Prior to this he held a aumber of senior sales, marketing and
operations roles with blue chip companies, including Well Well Well Ltd Aramark pic, Provend
Group pic and Coca Cola

Steve McKeever Chief Operating Officer

Steve aged 48 was appownted to the Board i August 2010 He joned o2c in Decermber 2007
with respensibility for the Group s IT function and later assumed additional respensibility for
02a'sintegrated supply chain Untilrecently he acted as temperary Managing Director of
BMC Before joining 020 he was a director of Johnson Group Management Services Ltd,

holding beth IT and operations director roles

Jim Cohen Senior non-executive Director

Jim aged 71 joned oZo n June 2004 He was a main board executive director of Balfour
Beatty plc until his retirement in February 2007 Prior to joining Balfour Beatty in 1993 he
held senior management pesitions with GTE and GEC and was a semor civil servant at the
Department of Energy He s currently a member of the tvestment commuttee of the
Netherlands based infrastructure funds DIF l and DIF 11} an adviser to Logikal Projects

Liruted and a non-executive director of Afnican Power Corporation Limited

Chns Batterham Non-executive Director

Chris, aged 57, joined a2o in June 2008 and 1s a Chartered Accountant with sigmficant
experence in the business services sectar He was finance director of Unipalm plc the first
internet company to float on the Londan Stock Exchange and latterly chief financial of ficer
of Searchspace Group untl 2005 He currently holds a number of non-executive directorships
including SDL ple lomart Group ple Toumaz and chasrman of Eckoh plc

Hugh Cawley Group Finance Director

Hugh aged 56 was appotnted to the Board on 25 February 2013 and 1s a Chartered
Accountant He was previously Chief Executive Officer of Dawson Holdings PLC, overseeing
the reversal of its decline the growth of its constituent businesses and in August 2011 the
subsequent sale of the group for a sigmficant premwm Prior to this he held semor financial
rotes at Procter & Gamble Imperial Chernical Industries PLC and S Danels plc

Mark Cunningham
Mark served as Finance Director throughout 2012 and resigaed on 30 fanuary 2013




Directors' Report

The Directors present ther report and
the audited consolidated financual
statements for the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2012

Principal activities

The princepal activity of the parent
Company (the Company}) is that of a
holding company office2office plets
registered at Compantes House under
company number 04083206

The Group's principal activities are
delivering managed procurement and
business critical services

Business and Financial Review

The Business and Financial Review
has been prepared \n accordance with
the requirements for a business
review under the Companies Act
2006 Theintent s to provide
information to shareholders and
should not be relied on by any other
party or for any other purposes

The Group's strategy, objectwves and
likely future developments in the
business are reviewed in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 2 to 5 andin the
Chief Executive's Review on pages 6 to
7 The KP!'s are defined and the principal
risks and uncertaintes (including
financial nisks) facing the business are
described in the Business and Financiat
Review on pages 8 to 9 The Board has
delegated the responsibility for
monttoring financial risk management to
the Audit Committee

Where the annual repert contains
forward looking statements, these are
made by the Directors 1n good faith
based on the information available to
them at the time of ther approval of
this report Consequently, such
statements should be treated with
caution due to the inherent
uncertamnties, including both
economic and business risk factors,
underlying such forward looking
statements or information

Aberforth Partners 8364597 shares 23 04%
AXA Framlington 5309455shares  1462%
Miton Capital Partners 4358735shares 1200%
F & C Asset Management 2,405698shares  663%
Baittie Gifford & Co 1,722359shares  474%
Mark Cunningham* 1089 549shares  300%

*Executive Director resigned 30 January 2013

Results and dividends

Profit for the year was £0 3m
(2011 £43m)

Aninterm dwidend of 36p (2011 3 6p}
per Ordinary share, amountingto £1 3m
(2011 £1 3m), was paid on 9 November
2012

The Directars recommend a final
dividend in respect of the year ended
31 December 2012 0of 36p (2011

7 8p} per Ordnary share, amounting to
£13m{2011 £28m} If authorised at
the AGM, the dividend willbe patd on
11 july 2013 to shareholders on the
share register at close of business on
17 May 2013

The aggregate dividends recognised as
distributions in the yearended 31
December 2012 amounted to £4 1m
{2011 £4 1m)

Share capital and substantial
shareholders

The Company’s 1ssued share capital is
£363,089 84 divided inte 36,308,984
Ordinary shares of 1 pence each All
shares have umform nights except for
those shares held in the employee
benefit trust {EBT), as referred toon
page 18, where the trustee typically
watves his night to vote

There are nerestrictions on the
transfers of securities in the Company
including limitations on the holdings of
securities and requirements ta obtamn
the approval of the Campany ar of ather
holders pror to a transfer of securities
The Drrectors are not aware of any
agreements between holders of the
Company's secunities that may result in

restrictions on the transfer of secunities
or on voting nghts

There are no contracts of sigmificance in
ptace between the Group and its
sharehalders (2011 none)

The Company has been notified in
accordance with Disclosure and
Transparency Rule & 1 2 of the Financial
Services Authority that, as at 1 March
2013, the above shareholders owned
3% or more of the issued Ordinary
share caprtal of the Company

At the last AGM, the Directors were
gwven authonity to allot Ordinary shares
{within themeaning of s 551 Companies
Act 2006)up to a nominal amount of
£121,030and, separately, a further
norntnal amount of £121,030 provided
they are offered by way of a rights issue
to existing shareholders inproportion to
their existing holdings, in line wath the
Association of British Insurers
guidelines In total these authonties
represent two thirds of the 1ssued
Ordinary share capital Additionally, the
Diwrectors were given the power to
disapply pre-emptton nights n respect of
the allotment of shares (undar s 570
Compantes Act 2006} up to an
aggregate nominal value of £18,154
{representing 5% of the ssued Ordinary
share caputal} and, on behalf of the
Company, to make market purchases of
up to 3,630,898 Ordinary shares of the
Company [being 10% of the 1ssued
Ordinary share capital)

These authonttes are due to expire at
the end of the forthcoming AGM
Separate resolutions to renew these
authorities will be set out in the notice
of meeting and proposed at the AGM an
22 May 2013
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Other business to be considered
at the forthcoming AGM

Other business to be considered at the
forthcoming AGM an ordinary
resolution to revoke the provision in the
Company's Articles of Assaciation (the
Articles) setting the maxsmum amount
of shares that may be allotted, and &
special resolution to approve a 14 day
notice penod for general meetings

Ordinary resolution

As mentioned above, the Directors will
be seeking to renew their authority to
allot Ordinary shares up to a total
nominal amount of £242,060 (being
two-thirds of the issued Ordinary share
capital) The Company currently has
issued share capital of £363,089 84
and s restricted by its Articles to a
maximum nominal amount of £500,000
Shareholder approval, via ordinary
resolution, will therefore be sought to
revoke this resfrictionin the Articles

Special resolution

Changes made to the Companies Act
2006 by the Shareholder Rights’
Regulations increase the notice period
required for general meetings of the
Company to 21 days unless
shareholders approve a shorter notice
period, which cannot, however, be less
than 14 clear days AGM's will continue
to be held on at [east 21 clear days’
notice

Before the coming into force of the
Shareholder Rights’ Regulations on 3
August 2009, the Company was able to
call general meetings (other than an
AGM) on 14 clear days’ notice without
obtaining such shareholder approval
Therefore, a special resolution will be
proposed in order to preserve this
abihity The shorter notice period would
not be used as a matter of routine for
such meetings, but only where the
flexibility s merited by the business of
the meeting and 1s thought to be to the
advantage of shareholders as awhole
The approval will be effective until the
Company’s next AGM, when it is
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intended that a similar resolution will be
proposed

Directors

The following, with the exception of
Hugh Cawley, were Directors during
2012 and held office throughout the
year under review up to the date of
signing the annual report and financial
statements

David Callear
Chairmant

Simon Moate
Chief Executive

Hugh Cawley
Group Finance Director
{appointed 25 February 2013)

Mark Cunningham
Finance Director
{resigned 30 January 2013)

Steve McKeever
Chief Operating Officer

Jim Cohen
Non-executive Director?

Chris Batterham
Non-executive Director?

! Chatrman of the Board and of the
Nomination Committee Member of the
Remuneration Commuttee and Audit
Cammittee

2 Chawrman of the Remuneration
Commuttee, the Risk and Opportunity
Commuttee and semor independent
Director Member of the Audit
Committee and Nomination Commuttee

3 Chairman of the Audit Committee
Member of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee

Biographical details of the Directors are
shown en page 14

Simon Moate will retire at the
forthcoming AGM in accordance with
the Articles and, being eligible, will of fer
himself for re-election The Board firmly
believes that he serves the Company
well and has the attributes to take the
business forward Accordingly, the
Board recommends his re-election

Following Mark Cunningham's
resignation on 30 January 2013, Hugh
Cawley was appointed Group Finance
Director with effect from 25 February
Hugh Cawley vl offer imself for
election at the forthcorming AGM

Corporate Governance

Detatls of the Corporate Governance
arrangements are provided on pages 19
to 22

Directors interests

Directors’ beneficial interests are
disclosed onpage 28 of the Directors’
Remuneration Report None of the
Directors'interests carries special
nghts withregards to control of the
Company

Related party transactions

In 2012, payments totalking £367,322
{2011 £248948)were made to
lornart pte of which Chris Batterham s
anon-executive Director lomart plc
provide managed hosting services
Over the past twa years 2o has
transferred its server requirements to
lomart The transactions are on normal
commerciat terms

Directors’ third party indemnity
provisions

A quabifying third-party indemnity
proviston as defined ins 234 of the
Companies Act 2006 was in force for
the benefit of each of the Directors in
respect of liabilities ncurred as a result
of tus office to the extent permitted by
law during the financial year and also at
the date of approval of the financial
statements Inrespect of thase
habilittes for which Directors may nat be
indermnified, the Company mantamed a
directors’ and officers’ habihty
surance policy throughout the
financial year




Statement of Directors’
responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for
preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the
financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulat:ons

Company law requires the Directors to
prepare financial statements for each
financial year Under that law, the
Directors have prepared the Group and
parent Company financial statements in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Staridards {IFRSs) as adopted
by the European Union (EU) Under
Company Law, the Directors must not
approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affawrs of the
Group and the Company and of the profit
or loss of the Group for that peniod In
preparing these financial statements, the
Directors are required to

s select suitable accounting policies
and then apply them consistently,

+ make judgements and accounting
estimates that are reasonable and
prudent,

+ state whether applicable IFRSs as
adopted by the EU have been
followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained
in the finanaial statements and

e prepare the financial statements on
the goung concern basis unless it s
inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue 1n business

The Directors are responsible for
keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficlent to show and explain
the Company's transactions and
disclose, with reasonable accuracy at
any time, the financial position of the
Company and the Group to enable them
to ensure that the financial statements
and the Directors’ Remuneration Report
comply with the Companies Act 2006
and, as regards the Group financial
staternents, Article 4 of the JAS
Regulation They are also responsible
for safeguarding the assets of the

Company and the Group and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and
other rregularties

Each of the Directors, whose names and
functions are listed on page 14 confums
that, to the best of his knewledge

» the Group financial statements,
which have been preparedn
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the EU, give a true and fair view of
the assets, habilities, financal
position and profit of the Group,

s the Directors’ Report containedn
the annual report includes a fair
review of the development and
performance of the business and the
position of the Group, together with
a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that it faces, and

s naccordance with s 418 Compames
Act 2006, in the case of each
Director in office at the date the
Dwectors' Report s approved, that

{a) sa far as the Director 1s aware,
there ts no relevant audst
information of which the Company’s
auditors are unaware, and

{b) he has taken all the steps that he
ocught to have taken as a Director
i order to make himself aware of
any relevant audit information and
to establish that the Company's
audhtors are aware of that
information

Employee involvement

The Group has a policy of providing
employees with information through

« anintranet facitity which hosts
amongst other things internal
vacancies, 0 2o news items, Group
policies, HR forms and pracedures,

¢ corporate and divisional newsletters
and announcements,

+ [ocal employee forums which bring
together a cross section of employees
to cover, separately, matters such as
health and safety, site improvements
and fund-raising activities,

« operation of an employee suggestion
scheme which facilitates a two-way
flow of infermation and 1deas,

» supplier meetings which provide an
opportunity for relevant employees
to meet the Group’s key suppliers
and get abetter understanding of the
praducts they are selling and for the
suppliers to showcase the new
products included in the Group's
catalogues, and

» Group sales meetings which bring
tagether the different sectors of the
business to share knowledge on
products and services to promote
cross-selling capabidities

Along termincentve scheme s
operatian for executive Directors and
sentor managers Details are includedin
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on
pages 25t0 29

The Group also has Save As You Earn
(SAYE} schemes under which employees
are granted an option to purchase
Ordinary shares in the Company In
etther three or five years’ time,
dependent upon their entering into a
contract to make monthly contributions
to a savings account over the relevant
pertod These savings are used to fund
the aption exercise There are currently
three live schemes a three and five year
scheme which was launched in
November 2011 and a five year 2008
scheme which is exercisable from May
2013 Detatls of these schemes are
given in note 26 to the financial
statements Details of the executive
Directors' participation are included in
the Directors' Remuneration Report on
pages 2510 29

Alow costdealing service is avalable to
employees which provides a simple way
of buying or selling 020 shares In
addition, an on-line share portal,
avauable through the Company's
registrar, allows individuals to view and
manage their shareholdings Details of
these services are available onthe
Company's website
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Employee benefit trust {EBT)

As at 31 December 2012, the total
number of Ordinary shares held by the
EBT was 138,155 (0 38% of the issued
Ordinary share capital of the Campany
(2011 269,356 (0 74%})) The
reduction in shares held was owing to
the exercise of options over shares by a
number of employees, under the Group’s
performance share plan Whilst held in
trust, the shares do not attract any
payment of dividends Although the
trustee may exercise his right to vote in
respect of any shares held within the
trust from time to time this rightis
typically waived

Equal opportunities

The Group 1s committed to a policy that
provides all ernployees rrespective of
background or disability, with equality of
opportunity for employment, training,
career development and selection on
the basis of abulity, qualifications and
suttability for the job Executive
Directars, managers and employees are
required to promote equality of
opportunity and to take full account of
the policy in their day-to-day wark The
aimis to recruit the most appropriate
and gualified staff in the industry and
the Group is commutted to the principle
of maximising every employee’s
potential Inselecting, training and
promoking staff, the Group has to take
account of the physically demanding
nature of much of 1ts wark Employees
who become disabled will be retained
andre-trained, where possible

Diversity and anti-discrimination

020's diversity and anti-discnmination
policy is available to all employees via the
Group infranet In response to the new
Equality Act 2010, a travung program
was rolled cut across the Group te
promote awareness of diversity in the
workplace and to communicate the
potential consequences of discnmination
and how to avoud it
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Bribery and anti-corruption

02o does not tolerate any form of
bribery or corruption and this is codified
in the Group policy on ant-corruption
avallable on the Group intranet
Employees are required to declare
details of any gift or hospitality receved
in connection with thewr employment and
in corjunction with the Business Ethics
Policy set outin the staff handbook
Where there1s any doubt of a conflict of
interest, employees are asked to seek
approval in advance

Health and safety

oZo 1s committed to maintainng the
health, safety and welfare of its
employees Detais of the Group health
and safety activities are given on page
11 of the CSR Statement

Creditor payment policy

It 1s Group policy to negotiate, with each
of its pnncipal supphers, terms of trade
appropriate to the business and to
operate within those terms of trade
once agreed Trade payable days based
on the year end figures are 86 (2011

86 days) for the Group The Company
has no trade payables (2011 rul)

Environmental policy

The Group ensures that, in satisfying its
customers' requirements, both the
goods and serwices supplied and its own
housekeeping comply with legislation
and best practice The Group
continually reviews its environmental
performance across the business
Further detads of Group environmental
policies are provided in the CSR
Staterment on pages 11to 13

Corporate and social
responsibility
A summary report on the Group pohcies

and objectives In respect of CSR 15 set
outonpages11to13

Requirements of the Takeover
Directive

The following are disclosed In
accordance with the requirements of
the Takeover Directive

s details of the Group employees’
share save scherne are given on
page 17

¢ procedures for appointment to the
Board are included on the Company's
website (www of fice2affice co uk)
under Nomination Committee -
Terms of reference,

s shareholder approval by special
resolution 1s required before any
changes are made to the Articles,

¢ the terms of the Company’s
commutted borrowing facilities
containachange of control clause
following a takeover bid that requires
mandatory repayment of all
outstanding mones and accrued
nterest The Company does not have
ary other sigmficant arrangements
that contain onerous change of
control clauses, and

o there are no provisions for
compensation for loss of office or
employment in the agreements with
Directors and employees

Independent auditors

The Audit Commuttee has considered
and recommends the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP {Pw(} as
auditors Aresolution proposing thewr
re-appointment will be put to the
forthcarmng AGM

By order of the Board
D Rodwell
Company Secretary
25March 2013




Corporate Governance Statement

Statement of compliance with
the UK Corporate Governance
Code 2010 (the Code)

The UK Corporate Governance Code
sets out standards of good corporate
governance and is publicly avatlable on
the Financial Reporting Council's
website www frc org uk It has recently
beenupdated for companies with
reporting periods beginning after 1
October 2012 o020 will report against,
and alt subsequent references in this
statement are to, the 2010 version

The Directors consider that the
Company has fully complied with the
principles set out i each section of the
Code throughout the period and the
application of these principles with
respect to the compositien and
operation of the Board, the
remuneration of the Directors,
shareholder retationships and
procedures for financial reporting and
internal control are described below

Directors and the Board

The Board comprises the Chairman,
Chief Executive, Chief Operating
Officer, Group Finance Director and two
nen-executive Directors

The Chawman s responsible for leading
the Board and ensuring there 1s timely
and effective cornmumication to and
between all Board members He ensures
that Board decisions are made after
taking into consideration the interests
of all stakeholders The Chief Executive,
supported by the senior management
team, is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group and, once
agreed by the Board as a whole, the
development and implementation of
strategy He sets the objectives to
ensure the successful delivery of
targets and allocates decision-making
and responsibilities accordingly The
normal segregation of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the Chref
Executive has been set out in writing
and appraoved by the Board The
Chawrman’s other main commitments are
disclosed onpage 14 A statement of
Directors’ responsibilities s given on
page 17 of the Directors’ Report The

respective responsibilities of directors
and auditors are given on page 30 of the
Independent Auditors’ report to the
members of office 20ffice plc

The non-executive Directors are free from
any business or ather relattonship which
could matenally mterfere with the
exercise of thew judgement and have no
nvolvernent with the day-to-day
management of the Group The Board
considers both non-executive Directors to
be independent, underpunning their abilty
to chatlenge decisions, and feels that their
diverse experience and background bring
adepthof debate and alternative
viewpoint to the Board Jim Cohenis the
semor Independent non-executve
Director The terms and conditions of the
non-executive Birectors’ appointments
are available on request from the
Cormnpany's registered office

The Company Secretary reports to the
Board and advises individual Directors
as required on Board procedures,
corporate governance matters and
changes in the regulatory environment
A procedure also exists for Directors to
take independent professional advice at
the Company's expense

The Nomination Committee has a format
procedure for appointments to the Board
and this welcomes candidates fromboth
sexes Appointments are made on merit
against objective critena, following
recommendation by the Nomination
Commuttee Newly appointed Directors
are supplied with comprehensive
documentation aimed at providing
information in relation to the remit and
obligations of the role and current areas
under consideration for the Board

The Board operates formally through
agenda-driven Board meetings, which
are normally held on a monthly basis,
usually at the Company’s head office
Meetings are occastonally convened at
the Group’s other locations with site
reviews conducted to provide the non-
executive Directors with an opportunity
to assess the operations at first hand
The monthly agenda covers both
operational and strategic matters,
however, separate strategy days are also
held to focus on longer term

considerations without the distraction of
the day-to-day operational matters At
each meeting, all Directors are invited to
declare the nature and extent of therr
interests in the matters for discussion

Frequent informal dialogue between the
Drrectors supplements the formal
Board meetings On a number of
eccastons during the year, the Chairman
met the non-executive Directors
without the executive Directors present
to discuss the performance of indwidual
executwve Directors and other seniar
managers The non-executive Directors
also met without the Chatrman being
present to discuss his performance

Farmal presentations by, and informal
meetings with, sentor management
allow the Board to keep abreast of
operaticnal matters, helps thewr
understanding of the business and
improves communications bath in and
out of the boardraom

The Board s responsible te shareholders
for the management and control of the
Group's actvities, its strategic objectives,
its system of corporate governance and
the stewardship of its resources Thisis
achieved by regular review of the key
activities of the Group through the
monthly management accounts, reports
and presentations A Board pack
compnsing Information to be reviewed
and discussed is forwarded to all Board
members in advance of the monthly
meetings to allow the Directors to be
fully prepared Regular detailed reports
on the Company’s funding and liquidity
position are also circulated Upon
release, analyst and broker reports are
arculated and the Board is updated en
any movements in major shareholdings
There s a formal schedule of matters
reserved for consideration and approval
by the Board and specific responsibilities
have been delegated to Board
committees as described below

The Board continues to balance the
longer term strategic direction with
immediate operational requirements and
delivery of acceptable financial results

In summary, the Board

« 2008 - facing unfolding ecanomtc
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued)

uncertainties, balanced the
integration of AccessPlus and Accord
and the aperational restructuning
following the withdrawal from the
Ministry of Defence contract in 2007

e 2009 -further streamlined the cost-
base to meet the challenges of &
recession while creating a strong
posittan for the start of any economic
recovery and maintained an attractive
dividend yield balanced by a focus on
funding and affordability,

o 2010-against abackground of
political and economic uncertainty
leading up to and immediately
following a change in Government,
scaled the Business Cnitical Services
segment by the acquisition of TPF and
undertook further restructuring, and

* 2011- encouraged the strategy to
grow in the SME sector to help
mitigate the impact of dechining
public sector sales volumes and
further addressed the Group’s cost
base while mindful to maintain the
means to realise the long term
potential of the new Advantia and
GOSC contracts

In 2012, the Board, with 1ts advisors,
undertook a detailed review of the
business This review concluded that
whilst the UK office products market 1s
performing badly with many
participants weakened, 020%s business
s relatively robust in a pressured
enviranment Over time some industry
consolidation seems likely and whitst
the Directors will continue ta monitor
opportunities, the currently depressed
market will influence when and how any
such opportunities anse

Under the Compantes Act 2006,
Directors must avoud any situations in
which they have or could have adirect or
indirect interest that conflicts with
Company interests The Articles provide
the Board with the authornity to approve
any such conflict, as appropriate

The Directors are entitled to be
indemnified by the Company to the extent
permitted by law and the Articles m
respect of all losses ansing out of or 1n
connection with the execution of therr
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powers, duties and responsibiliies The
Company has provided letters of
indemmity for the benefit of each Director
inrespect of liabthties which may attach
to them in thewr capacity as Directors of
the Company These indemnities were
independently assessedas bewng inline
with market practice The Company also
matntains appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’liabiftty iInsurance Neither the
indemnities nor the insurance provide
cover in the event that the Director s
proved to have acted fraudulently

In accordance with the Articles, no more
than ane third of the Directors are
required to retire at each AGM and all
Dwectors are required to submut
themselves for re-election at least once
every three years At the next AGM,
Simon Moate will offer imself for re-
election and Hugh Cawley will seek
election bewng the first opportumty for
him todo so

Board performance

The Board undertakes a crtical
evaluation of itself and 1ts comrmuttees on
an annual basis The 2012 performance
evaluation questionnaire comprised a
series of statements, whichrequired a
rating between “strongly disagree” to
“strongly agree” and individual comment
was invited on each [n addition a section
15 included to allow the Directors to
assess their personal involverment in
various Board matters on a scale from
“too much invalvernent” to “nat encugh
involvement” Given the need regutarly to
review and agree with each Directar his
traiming needs, the purpose s to
determine whether there are any time,
experience or development issues with
individual roles and to address these

The review re-confirmed that the size of
the Board, 1ts composition and balance,
together with its open and inclusive
culture, rematn appropriate for the
current business and that the
Committees reman effective In addition,
it was recogrised that the Nommnatwon
Commuttee kept the leadership needs of
the Group under review notwithstanding
the Lirnitations on successtan planning
withina small company

A number of recommendatians were
made wn respect of improving awareness
with regards to specific areas of the
business, particularly as the Group
diversifies, and it was agreed to arrange
appropriate traming

Gowng concern

The Grouphas net current iabilities as
at 31 December 2012 and has traded
profitably since the balance sheet date
with the profits generated contnbuting
to the funding of the Group's working
capital requrements Inaddition, the
Group meets its day-to-day working
capital requrements through sufficient
and appropriate credit facilities that are
commutted untif June 2015 The Group's
forecasts indicate that it is able to
operate within the level of its current
faciitres and related covenants for the
foreseeable future Accordingly, the
Directars, having made appropriate
enquiries, consider it reasonable to
assume that the Group and the
Company have adequate resources to
continue for the foreseeable future and,
for this reason, have continued to adopt
the gong concern basis in prepanng the
financial statements

Committees of the Board

Specific responsibilities are delegated
to sub-committees of the Board The
compositionof these sub-committees
1s provided below together with
reference toreports on their activities
All other decisions are taken
collectively by the Board

Board sub-commuttees are appointed to
act on behalf of the Board for specific
projects or one-off matters as and when
required This enables matters to be
dealt with quickly and efficiently
without formal scheduted meetings and
proceedings are fully minuted for
approval by the Board Composition of
the sub-committees vares according to
the nature of the business covered
Meetings during the year related to the
detailed review of the business and
were mainly chaired by David Callear

The Nomination Committee 1s
responsible for reviewing the size,




structure and composttion of the Board
and making recommendations to the
Board if it considers that any changes
are required It keeps succession plans
under review and has a formal procedure
for appawntments to the Board and
senlor managerment team The
Normination Committee includes bath
independent non-executive Directors
and s chaired by David Callear Areport
onits activities 1s given on page 23

The Remuneration Committee reviews
and makes recommendations on the
Group's overall remuneration policy,
including tndividual remuneration
packages for executive Directors, the
Charman and senior management ltis
alsoresponsible for the review of the
Company's share schemes and senior
incentive plans The Remuneration
Commuttee, which 1s chaired by Jim
Cohen, comprises the independent non-
executive Directors and Dawid Callear
When necessary, non-committee
members are invited to attend by prior
arrangement Areport onits activities is
given on page 25

The Audit Committee assists the Board
in chscharging its responsibilities
effectively for financial reporting, risk
review and internal control |t comprises
the independent non-executve Directors
and Bavid Callear All members have

financual iteracy Chris Batterham, who
chatrs the Commuttee, and Dawid Callear
are Chartered Accountants and have
relevant financial expertise, as described
in their biographies on page 14 Non-
committee members and the external
auditors are invited to attend by prior
arrangement Areport onits activities s
gwvenaon page 23

The Risk and Opportunity Committee
was formed in 2010 and 1s chared by
Jim Cohen The aimis to provide aforum
for risk and opportunities to be
regularly reviewed by Board members
and sentor management There ts noset
membership, as this wall vary according
to the matters under review Further
details are provided on page 23

As Board packs are 1ssued in advance of
the Board meetings, all Directors are
kept informed of the matters tobe
discussed and have the opportunety to
make their views known to the Charman
prior to the meeting if they are unable to
attend Minutes of meetings are
airculated to the respective members of
the Board or committees

Directors’ remuneration

The Directors’ Remuneration Report on
pages 25 to 29 includes detas of
remuneration policies and the
remuneration of Directors

Relationship with shareholders
and constructive use of the AGM

The Board, led by the Chairman,
recognises the importance of
effective commumication and
accountabikty to all shareholders and
15 kept informed of therr views through
frequent contact with the house-
brokers and feedback from direct
communications with, and
presentations to, institutional
investaors and fund managers

Each shareholder recewes the annual
report and financial statements
contairung the full year results and has,
up to now, recewved an interim report on
the haif year results For 2013 and
thereafter half yearly results will be
published onthe Company’s website but
will be avatlable in hard copy form only
on request Following the announcement
of results, presentations are given to the
nvestment community in Lordon and
Edinburgh The full year and half year
reports and presentations are made
available on the Company’s website
{wwwoffice2office couk)

Additionally, and tn accordance with the
Desclosure and Transparency Rules,
interimmanagement statements were
released via the RNS news service in
Aprit and November 2012

Attendance at meetings
The number of full Board meetings and committee meetings attended by each Director in 2012 was as follows
Board Remuneration Audit MNominatlon

Full Board sub-committee Committee Committee Committee
SRR AN S TSI T PO IO ST T
Number of
meetings held 11 15 10 4 2
Charman
Dawd Callear 11 14 g 4 2
Executive Directors
Simon Moate 11 12 6* 2 2*
Mark Cunningham [resigned 30 lamiary 2013 11 11 4* 0
Stave McKeever 11 2 ] z*
Non-executive Directors
Jun Cohen 11 10 4
Chris Batterham FH1 8 4

* By nvitation
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The Company's AGM takes place in
Norwich and formal not:ification,
together with the annuat report and
financial statements, 1s sent to
shareholders at least 20 working days in
advance of the meeting All Board
members are avalable, formally during
the AGM and informally afterwards, for
questions Each item of business s the
subject of a separate resolution The
collection and analysis of the proxy
votes I1s handled independently by the
Company's registrars The Chairman
announces the results of the proxy
votes after shareholders have vated on
ashow of hands These resultsare also
made available on the Company's
website Details of the 2013 AGM are
set out in the notice of the meeting
enclosed with this report

The Chairman and the senior
independent Director are available to
shareholders on all matters relating to
governance and strategy All members
of the Board may be contacted through
the Company's website

internal control

The Board has overall respansibility far
the Group's system of aternal controt
and delegates the annual review of
internal contral processes and therr
effectiveness to the Audit Commuttee
The internal contrel systems are
designed to meet the Group’s needs and
address the risks to which it 1s exposed
Such systems mitigate, rather than
eliminate, the nisks faced by the
bustness and can only provide
reasonable and nat absolute assurance
aganst material mis-statement or loss
Necessary actions are taken to remedy
any sigmficant faillings or weaknesses as
they are identified The Directors have
conducted a review of the effectiveness
of the Group's system of internal control
and consider it appropriate for the
business No sigmificant failings or
weaknesses were dentified Adetailed,
group-wide review of rnisk and
opporturity is overseen by the Risk and
Opportunity Committee See page 21
for further detais
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The key elements of the Group's
procedures and internal financial
control framework are

+ the close involvement of the
executwve Directors n alt aspects of
the day-to-day operations, including
regular meetings with senior staff
from across the Group and a review
of the monthly operattanal reports
compiled by senior management,

s clearly defined responsibilities and
hmits of authonty The Board has
respansibility for strategy and has
adopted a schedule of matters which
are required to be brought to it for
decision,

« financial teams dedicated to each
business segment but witha
reporting line to the central finance
function This ensures that the
specific accounting needs of each
segment can be closely managed
whilst ensuring financial discipline s
matntained,

» central control of key functions such
as tax, treasury, payroll and insurance,
rather thanon a devisional basis,

s acomprehensive system of financial
reporting forecasting and budgeting,
Detalled budgets are prepared
annually for all parts of the business
and consohidated by the central
finance team Reviews occur through
the management structure culminating
i a Group budget which 1s considered
and approved by the Board,

* anagreed tume-plan and schedule of
responsibiity for the preparation of
cansohidated acceunts and a
continual review process with the
Board Reports and statements are
prepared independently from the
financial statements to ensure
integrity of content,

+ Group management accounts are
prepared menthly and submitted to
the Board for review Variances from
budget and prior year are closely
momtored and explanations are
provided for significant variances
Detasted expense reports with
comparisons against budget are

issued monthly to cost centre
managers to assist in cost control

+ acontinuous process for identifying,
evaluating and managing significant
risks acress the Group together with
a comprehensive annual review of
risks which covers both financial and
non-financial areas, and

¢ anannual review of insurance cover
for the Group ncluding a review of
disaster recovery plans for IT and the
warehouses The sigmificant risks
facing the business are considered to
be the loss of a large customerora
major interruption of warehouse
operations or I T services

This process i1s i accordance with the
Turnbullguidance and has been in place
throughout the year under review and up
to the date of approval of the annual
report and financial statements

Corporate social responsibility
{CSR)

Measures to ensure responsible
business canduct and the identification
and assessment of risks associated with
social, ethicat and environmental
matters are managed in conjunction
with all other business risks and
reviewed atregular meetings of the
Board and senior management

020 mantains its TSR inttlatwe entitled
‘good for you, good for us, good for
everyone’, which ams to cembune added
value for customers with tangible
benefits for the business and the
environment

Asummary report on the Group's
polictes and objectives for CSR s set
outonpages 11to13

D Rodwell
Company Secretary
25March 2013




Nomination
Committee
Report

Role of the Nomination
Committee

The Nomination Commutttee 15 a sub-
committee of the Board, responsible for
allappointments to the Board, giving full
consideration to succession plans and
the leadership of the Group 1t makes
recommendations to the Board for any
changes to the Board and its
committees that it considers necessary
and alse reviews the senior
management structure The Committee
has a formal procedure for
appoitments to the Board and senor
management team where due regard s
given ta diversity, including gender This
15 available together with the
Commuttee’s terms of reference on the
Company's website

{www office 2office co uk}

The Committee meets as required and
engages with recruitment consultants
when appropnate During 2012, the
Committee met an two occasions and,
since year end, met on a further two
occaslons inrespect of the search for a
replacement Finance Directar

Composition of the Nomination
Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises
the Chairman and the independent non-
executive Directors The Company
Secretary is secretary to the
Committee

D J Callear
Chairman of the Nominatton Committee

25 March 2013

Audit Committee Report

Role of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee 1s a sub-
commuttee of the Board and its
responsibihities include

s reviewing and recommending to the
Board for approval, the half-year
report, the annual report and
financial statements, results
announcements of the Group and any
other formal announcements retating
to the Group’s financtal performance,

o reviewing the Group's systems of
internal financial control, risk
management policies and
procedures,

¢ monitoring and reviewing the
requirement for an internal audit
function

¢ considering the appointment of the
external auditers, overseeing the
process far thewr selection and
making recommendattons to the
Board inrelationto therr
appointment,

+ monitoring and reviewwng the
effectiveness and independence of
the external auditars, agreeing the
nature and scope of their audit, thewr
remuneration and constdering their
reports on the Group's accounts and
systems of internal financial control
and risk management and

s monitoring the Group's whistle-
blowing procedures

Composition of the Audit
Committee

The Audit Committee comprises Chris
Batterham {Commuttee Chairman), Jim
Cohen and Dawd Callear Thetr
biographical details are included on
page 14 and thewr remuneration on
pages 25to 29 Chris Batterhamand
David Callear are Chartered
Accountants Non-committee members
and the Campany's external auditors
{PwC) are nvited to attend meetings as
and when appropriate At least once
each year, representatives of PwC meet
the Audit Committee without any
executive Directors being present The
Company Secretary is secretary to the

Audit Commuittee The Cammittee's
terms of reference are available on the
Company's website

{www office2office couk)

Main actvities of the Audit
Commuttee

The Audit Committee met on four
occastonsin 2012 with other Board
members and the auditors attending as
required These meetings covered

PwC'’s presentatton of thew audht
approach and pracedures, including
matters relating to scope, auditor
independence and fees, cansideration of
changes inaccounting pelictes and
standards discussions concerning the
external audit reports and any matters
ansing, and reviews of the financial
results and investor presentations, at
the fult-year and half-year, prior to
recommending them to the Board for
approval The Group whistle-blowing
policy and the Banner Business Supplies
Pension Stheme accounts were also
reviewed by the Committee

Risk and opportunity
management - internal audit
function

ARisk and Opportunity function was
established in 2010 to deliver value to
the business by ensuring nisk 1s
managed at every level throughout the
Group, reduang inefficiencies through
process improvements and optimising
the opportumties that this brings
Indwidual managers have taken
responsibility for thetr respective areas
and a formal reporting procedure has
been established by the Risk and
Opportunity Manager Overseaing this
function is the Risk and Opportunity
Commutttee, comprising Audit
Comrmtteerepresentatives, the Risk
and Opportunity Manager and those
Directors and managers responsible for
key priorities It provides a forum for
discussion,enables progress to be
monitored and actions prioritised

The Committee does not consider it
necessary tohave a separate internal
audit function and censiders the Risk
and Oppertunity approach will help
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Audit Committee Report (continued)

mitigate the prinaipal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group which are
set out on pages B to 9 of the Business
and Financial Review

Review of whistle-blowing policy

020 has a whistle-blowing policy i ptace
which establishes a confidential channel
of communication for employees to
bring matters of concern about the
running of the business to the attention
of senior management Upon being
notified of such a concern, the policy
sets out a defined process for full
investigation and, where necessary,
corrective action to be taken The Audit
Comimittee reviews the whistle-blowing
policy on an annual basis

No concerns were reported in the year
and following a review of the policy, no
changes were considered necessary The
policy s available on the Company's
website (www office 2o ffice co uk)

Independence of external
auditors

PwC have been the Company's auditors
since 2002 A new audit partner was
assigned to the Group following the
20089 year end process n line with
PwC's own partner rotation policy as
required by the Auditing Practices
Board The Audit Commettee is satisfied
with their effectiveness and
independence and has not constdered it
necessary to require an indeperident
tender process The Commuttee formally
validates this and, therefore, its
recommendatior: to the Board with
regards to appointment and
reappotntment, by

e assessing Pw('s performance on an
annual basts through meetings with
key persannel,

» monutoring therr independence and
objectivity by reviewing their
relationship with the Group and
ensuring Group pohicy 15 followed in
relation to the provision of non-audit
services, and
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& reviewing anticipated future service
requirements and assessing their
ability to meet the requirement by
seeking oppartunity to challenge,
question and confirm the new service
proposttion

The Committee meets the external
auditers to revtew and approve audit
scope and fees and obtain written
confirmation of thewr independence
Fallowing the audit, the Committee
meets PwC without the executive
Directors being present and also
discusses the efficiency of the audit
process with the executive Directors

Group policy on the proviston of non-
audit services requires that, other than
for corporate taxation services,
approval ts sought from the Committee
in advance of any engagement The
Committee will constder, taking into
account the scope of the work and level
of fees involved, whether the provision
of such nen-audit services impairs the
independence and abjectivity of PwC

As detailed innote 7 to the financial
statements, total fees paid to PwCin
201 2 were £202,000, of which
E£125,000 related to audit fees,
£10,000 related to the 2012 nterim
review and £25,000 related to
corporate tax services In addition, PwC
were engaged to perform taxation
advisory services and audit related
assurance services for fees of £17,000
and £25,000 respectively The
Committee approved all fees prior to
the work being undertaken With
regards to tax services, these were
provided by an independent team and
the Commttee was satisfied that the
level of fees did not prejudice Pw('s
independence

C M Batterham
Chawrman of the Audit Commuttes

25 March 2013




Directors’ Remuneration Report

This report outhines the membership
and workings of the Remuneration
Committee, together with details of
Directors’ remuneration inrespect of
the year ended 31 December 2012 A
resolution to approve this report wili be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM

Remuneration Committee and
its terms of reference

The Remuneration Commttee 1s a sub-
committee of the Board Memberstup
comprises lim Cohen {Committee
Charrman), Chris Batterham and David
Callear, all of whom are independent of
management and free from any
business or other relatianship which
could interfere wath the exercise of therr
independent judgement When
necessary, non-committee members are
invited to attend by prior arrangement
The Commttee met on ten accastons in
the year

The principal function of the Commttee
1s to make recommendations to the
Board regarding the Company’s policy
on the remuneration, benefits and terms
of employment of the executive
Directors Inaddition, the Committee
assistsin the recruitment and
remuneration of new Board members
and also monitors the remuneration of
senior management generatly

In determining remuneration packages
and policies, due regard 1s given to any
legal requirements, the provisions of the
UK Corporate Governance Code and the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services
Authortty The Committee seeks
wndependent advice from Aon Hewitt
Limited {operating through the brand
New Bridge Street) and Macfarlanes
LLP Neither Aon Hewttt Limited, nor any
other part of the Aon Corporation
Group, provided other services to the
Company during the year under review
Macfarlanes LLP are consulted on
various other corporate and legal
matters The last independent
comparative remuneration review for
the executive and senior management
teamwas conducted by Hyperion HR
Limited in 2010

The Committee’s terms of reference are
availabte on the Company’s website
(wwwofficeZoffice co uk)

Executive Directors’
remuneration

Remuneration policy inrespect of
executive Directors 15 designed to
ensure that the Group achievesits
potential and increases shareholder
value Inrespect of basic salary, the
objectve s to ensure that the Group
attracts and retamns high calibre
executives with the skills, experience
and motwation necessary to direct and
manage the affairs of the Group Annuat
bonuses and long term incentive
schemes are seen as an important part
of each Director’s total remuneration
and are designed to drive and reward
exceptional performance

The current remuneration package of
the executive Directors conststs of
basic salary, annual borus, long term
incentive schemes, taxable benefits,
SAYE option scheres and pension
arrangements These are described in
more detail below

The executive Directors’basic salaries are
reviewed annually by the Commuittee,
taking into account the perfarmance of
the indwadual, changes in ther
responsibilities, the Group's performance
against financial objectives, intended pay
increases across the Group and, when
deemed appropniate, information from
independent remuneration consultants’
sources on levels of salary for stmilar jobs

The maximum 2012 bonus potential for
Simon Moate and Steve McKeeveris
100% and 60% of basic salary
respectively

Each year the Commuttee reviews the
bonus arrangements and may recommend
different targets ar performance
canditiens to keep the objectives aligned
with shareholder interests

As with previous years, the 2012 annual
cash bonus scheme was designed to
reward growth inunderlying EPS and
ngorous management of net debt and
workuing capital A varying proportion of

the bonus was based on personal
targets tailored to each Director and
objectively measurable

No bonus 15 payable with regards to the
EPS and net debt as the respective
targets were not achieved Whilst some
bonus 1s payable inrelation to working
capital and other operational targets,
the executwe Dhrectors have elected not
to take any bonus for 2012 If not for
this election, banuses of 5% and 1 2%
of basic salaries would have been
payable to Simon Moate and Steve
McKeever respectively

It ts intended that the 2013 cashbonus
will continue to take account of the key
KPI's on 020's performance Personal
targets will again be included and the
Commuttee will reserve the night to
apply discretion

Pension contributions to the executive
Directors' personal pension schemes
were made at arate of 10% of basic
salary

The service agreements for the
executve Directors are on aroliing basis
and terminable on 12 months’ notice by
either party, with the right for the
Company to make a payment in lieu of
satary and benefits, excluding bonus, for
any unexpired period of notice

Mark Cunningham resigned from the
Board on 30 January 2013 and took leave
fromhis employment from 28 February
2013 Inlinewsthhus contractual terms he
will continue ta be paid monthly during his
12 menth notice pertod

Save as you earn share option
scherne (SAYE)

The Group operates an HMRC approved
SAYE scheme open to alt employees in
which Siman Moate and Steve
McKeever participate Details are
provided on page 29

Long term incentive plans

The Company currently operates a long
term incentive plan, the Performance
Share Plan (PSP), as detalled below The
Company also has a Deferred Share
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Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)

Bonus Plan (DSBP) whuch has heen
nactive since inception Both these
plans were approved by shareholders in
November 2005 In line with ABI
guidelines, awards granted under this
plan are subject to dilutton hmits

Performance Share Plan

The PSP rules attow awards aver Ordinary
shares, subject to performance cntena as
detailed below and vesting in three years,
to be made to individuals in any year of a
value of up to 100% of basic salary In
exceptional circumstances, the
Remuneration Committee has discretion
toincrease the award to up to 200% of
basic salary In accordance with the
scheme rules, the number of Ordinary
shares awarded is calculated by reference
to the three day average of the closing
mid-market quotation of the Company's
share pnice prior to the award date The
exercise price of options under the PSP
scheme s O 1p per share

From inceptionn 2005 to awards made
in 2010, the perfarmance cniteria were
based on (1} a comparative measure of
total shareholder return {TSR) against
compantes i the FTSE Small Cap Index
and {u) the Company’s underlying
earnings per share (UEPS) growth

The last awards having joint TSR and
UEPS performance cnteria were made
in 2010 and will mature during 2013
without vesting

fn 2011, inrecognition that the PSP had
lost credility with seror management
as only a small proportion (11 8%) had
vested since the scheme was
implemented, the Committee consulted
with independent remuneration
adwisors, the ABI and major
shareholders As aresult, it was decided
to keep within the remit of the existing
scheme in relation to matters such as
indwviduat award levels and dilution
himits whilst modifying the performance
criterta to provide participants with
targets they could identify with but
which remained challenging

For awards made since 2011, the PSP
1s now a two part scheme, each part
allowing awards up to 100% of salary
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Part A 1s open to the executive
Directors and a number of senor
management with performance
measurements split equally betwean
growth in both UEPS and share price
The latter was chosen toreplace TSR
as it 1s understaod by all and unites the
team around a goal 1n commen with
shareholders Part Aisalso subject toa
Judgemental underpwn of performance
(see below) Part Bawards, which are
only open to executive Directors and
only in special circumstances, rely
solely on the judgemental underpin of
performance {see below) exercised by
the Commuttee In 2011, Part B awards
were granted to Simon Moate and
Steve McKeever

For Part A awards, the UEPS component
18 split Into three equal tranches to be
measured annually Each tranche will
provistonally vest 50% if EPS grows by
an average of 4% more thanRP! in the
year, with full provisionat vesting if UEPS
grows by an average of 8% more than
RPI i the year Proporttonate provisional
vesting wilt occur on a straight-line basis
between the lower and upper level To
the extent that targets are not met, the
relevant portion of the first and second
tranches, 1s measured with the fellowing
year's tranche

The share price component 1s measured
on 5 occasions during the pertod of the
award If the share price huits a shiding
scale of chaltenging targets for a pertod
of 30 days after the announcement of
full year and half year results, then
provisional vesting will occur Any
unvested provisionat award 1s carred
over to the next measurement pertod
but vesting will only occur if a higher
share price target 1s met than with
earlier testing

The provisional vesting of the awards
provides participants with a barometer
of how thewr award is faring within its
three year wrapper Actual vesting will
occur only at the end of the three years
following grant of the award and subject
to continued employment and
satisfaction of the same underpin
judgement by the Commuttee as the
Part B awards

The underpin is a check by the
Remuneration Commttee to ensure
there are norrational outcomes and,
amongst other things, whether the
Company has been able to declare
appropriate dividends throughout the
period

For the 2011 PSP awards, 20% of the
share price component provisionally
vested as the average closing share
price hit L60p in the 30 day period
following the announcement of the
2011 finalresults

Current holdings

InSeptember 2012, Simon Moate
exercised his options under the TSR
element of the 2009 PSP award 100%
of the TSRelement vested, being 50%
of the whole award and equating to

80 303 shares No awards vested under
the UEPS element Further to 41,968
shares being sold at 132 89p to settle
the related tax obligations the
remaining 38,335 shares were
transferred to Simen Moate

The executive Directors currently hold
awards over 020 shares foilowing grants
made in May 2010, June 2011 and
Septernber 2012 based on an average
share priceof 155 5p, 133 5p and

137 Sprespectively For Simon Moate
and Steve McKeever, the June 2011
grant comprises two awards under Part
A and Part B of the scheme, as
mentioned above, equating to 200% of
salary n total

The above awards are detailed on page
29 and (n note 26 to the financial
statements

In the event of a takeover, all awards
granted under the PSP vest or become
exercisable to the extent that the
performance targets have been
achieved, as determined by the
Remuneration Committee In the event
of a re-organisation the awards may be
exchanged for options over shares in the
new holding cormnpany on such terms
determinedby the Commuittee




Chairman and non-executive
Directors

The Charrman’s and non-executive
Directors’service agreements are
currently for three year terms Dawid
Callear's and im Cohen's third three
year term ends on 28 June 2013 and
bath have provisionatly agreed to
centinue on renewable ane year terms
The other Directors are satisfied that
they rematn sufficiently independent
and add value to Board matters Under
the UK Corporate Governance Code,
David Callear and Jtm Cohen will be
subject to annual re-election at each
AGM fallowing thetr re-appotntment
Chnis Batterham's three year service
agreement ends on 25 June 2014 All of
these service agreernents are
terminable on three months' notice by
etther the Company or the relevant
Birector The Chairman'’s and non-
executive Directors’ remuneration 1s
non-pensionable

The remuneration of the non-executive
Directors 1s determined by the
Charrman and the executive Directors

and the remuneration of the Charman s
determined by the Remuneration
Committee Whilst there were no
chenges to their remunerationin 2011,
ncreases were awarded during the year
to the Chairman and non-executive
Directors Dawvid Callear’s increase
reflected the additional time
commitment to manage the detailed
review of the business and to chair
retated sub-committee meetings from
the beginning of 2012 Jim Cohen and
Chnis Batterham received inflationary
increases on 1 Aprit 2012

The Chairman and non-executive
Birectors are not ehigible to participate
i any of the Company’s share option or
Group bonus schemes

Performance graph

The graph below shows 02¢'s total
shareholder return performance (TSR)
compared to the FTSE Small Cap index,
of which 020 was, until 1 7 December
2007, a constituent member The
values inchcated in the graph show the
share price growth plus reinvested

dmadends from a £100 hypothetical
holding of Ordinary shares n 020 and
in the index from 1 January 2008 to 31
December 2012
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Directors’ Remuneration Report (continued)

Directors’ remuneration earned in 2012 - audited

The emaluments of the Directors {excluding pension cantributions) are shown below

2012 2012 2012 2012 2011
Salay/  Allowances and Annual
fees benafits iy kind bonus Total Total

EQOD £000 E00O E0QQ £0060
Chauman '
Dawid Callear 198 10 - 208 138
Exeeutive
Sumon Moate 314 15 - 329 359
Steve McKeever 186 15 - 201 239
Mark Cunningham* 188 14 - 202 220
Subtotal 688 44 - 732 B18
Non-executive
Jim Cohen 56 - - 56 55
Chris Batterham 51 - - 51 50
Subtotal 107 - - 107 105
Total 993 54 - 1,047 1,061

*Mark Cunningham resigned from the Board on 30 January 2013

Other allowances and benefits in kind provided to executive Directors comprise car benefits, family private health care,
permanent health insurance and life assurance at the rate of four times annual satary

No amounts have been waived in the current or prior year

Directors’ pensions - audited

Pension contributions reflect amounts payable to defined contribution personal pension schemes The contributions payable to
persanal penston schemes n the year are shown below

Penston contributions

2012 2011

£000 E0OOD

Simon Meate 31 30
Steve McKeever 19 18
Mark Cunmingham {resigned from the Board on 30 January 2013) 19 20
69 68

Directors’ interests - unaudited

The beneficial interests of the Directors and thewr immediate families in the share capital of 020 attheyear end are set out below

Number of Ordinary shares

2012 2011
Dawid Callear 450,991 450991
Simon Moate 186,832 158 497
Steve McKeever 6,747 6747
Mark Cunningham {resigned from the Beard on 30 January 2013) 1,089,549 1089,549
Jim Cohen 65,496 65,496
Chris Batterham 7,516 7516

1817131 177879

Between 31 December 2012 and the date of this report, Simon Moate and Steve McKeever increased their beneficial interest by
10,000 shares and 5,364 shares respectively to a hotding of 206,832 shares and 12,111 shares respectively

No Director had any material interest in any contract of sigmificance with the Group during the periodunder review The Directors
confirm that they have not given any pledges of 020 shares
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Long term incentive plans - audited

Awards granted to Directors under the PSP were as follows

Exercise
price per Exercisable Expiry

lJanl2 Granted Exercised Expired 31 0ec 12 share from date

Simon Moate

2009 PSP Award 160606 - {80303)  (80303) - 0lp 040312 040912
2010 PSP Award 189711 - - - 189711 0lp 210513 211113
2011 PSP Award 441948 - - - 441,948 0lp 200614 201214
2012 PSP Award - 232727 - - 232727 0lp 180915 180316

792265 232727  (80303) (80303)  B64,386

Steve McKeever

2010 PSP Award 112540 - - - 112,540 01p 2106513 211113

2011 PSP Award 262172 - - - 262,172 0lp 200614 201214

2012 PSP Award - 138182 - - 138,182 01p 180915 180316
374712 138182 - - 512,894

Mark Cunrungham®

2010 PSP Award 118971 - - - 118,971 01lp 210513 211113

2011 PSP Award 147,566 - - - 147,566 0lp 200614 201214

2012 PSP Award - 137891 - - 137,891 0lp 180915 180316
266537 137,881 - - 404,428

*Mark Cunningham resigned from the Board on 30 January 2013

The awards granted during the year were made on 18 September 2012 The market price of Ordinary shares at the date of grant
was 137 5p

For those awards vesting during 2012, the market price of Ordinary shares on the exercise date was 132 89p The notwonai gains
made were as follows

Value of shares

Value of shares transferred
on date of Shares Sharas ondate of
axercise sold to setile wransferred exercise

Exercised £000 tax labilites  toindwidual E£0C0

Simon Moate 80,303 107 {41 968) 38335 51

Beneficial options granted to Directars under the SAYE scheme were as follows

Exercise
price per Exercisable Expiry
1Jan12 Granted Exercised Expired 31Dec 12 share from date
Simon Moate 14069 - - - 14,069 1194p 010513 301113
Steve McKeever 12842 - - - 12,842 1168p 010117 300617

The closing market price of Ordinary shares at 31 December 2012 was 124 Op The shares traded inthe range 118 5p to
163 75p during the year

The detaits and the performance criteria in respect of the above schemes are discussed on pages 25 and 26

JL Cohen

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

25 March 2013
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Independent Auditors' Report to the members

of office 2office plc

We have audited the financial
statements of office2office plc for the
year ended 31 December 2012 which
comprise the consalidated income
statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the
consolidated and Company balance
sheets, the censolidated statement of
changes in equity, the Company
statement of changes in equity, the
consolidated and Company statements
of cash flows, the sigrificant accounting
policies and mformation and the related
notes The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in ther
preparation s appiicable law and
International Financial Reporting
Standards {{FRSs) as adopted by the
European Union and, as regards the
parent Company financial statements,
as applied n accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006

Respective responsibilities of
directors and auditors

As explamed more fully in the Directors’
Responsibilities Statement set out on
page 17, the Directors are responsible
for the preparatian of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view Our
responstbility i1s to audit and express an
opinan on the financial statements in
accordance with applicable faw and
International Standards on Auditing {UK
and iretand) Those standards require us
to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

Thes report, including the opimions, has
been prepared for and only for the
Company's members as abody in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Compames Act 2006 and for no
other purpose We do not, ingiving
these opinions, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or
to any other person to whom this report
t5 shown or into whose hands 1t may
come save where expressly agreed by
our prior consent in writing
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Scope of the audit of the
financial statements

An audit involves obtaning evidence
about the amounts and disclasures in
the financial statements sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from
matenal misstatement, whether caused
by fraud or error This includes an
assessment of whether the accounting
polictes are appropriate to the Group’s
and the parent Company's
circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately
disclosed, the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made
by the Directors, and the overall
presentation of the financial
statements |n addition, weread all the
financial and non-financial information
n the annual report to identify material
Incensistencies with the audited
financial statements If we become
aware of any apparent matertal

miss tatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications far our repart

Opinion on financial statements

In our opimon

o thefinancial statements give atrue
and fair view of the state of the
Group's and of the parent Company's
affawrs as at 31 December 2012 and
of the Group's profit and Group's and
parent Company's cash flows for the
year then ended,

e the Group financial statements have
been properly preparedin
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the European Union,

* the parent Company financial
statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with IFRSs
as adopted by the European Unton
and as applied 1n accordance with the
provisions of the Compantes Act
2006, and

s the financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act
2006 and, as regards the Group

financiat statements, Article 4 of the
IAS Regulation

Opinion on other matters
prescribed by the Companies
Act 2006

In our opinton

o the partef the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited
has beenproperty prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act
2006,

« the information given in the
Directors' Report for the financial
year for which the financiat
statements are prepared 1s
consistent wath the financial
statements, and

+ the nformation given in the
Corporate Governance Statement
set out on pages 19 to 22 with
respect to internal control and risk
management systems and about
share caputal structures 1s consistent
with the financial statements

Matters on which we are
required to report by exception

We have nothing to report inrespect of
the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are
required to report to yousf, in our
opinon

* adequate accounting records have
not beenkept by the parent
Company, or returns adequate for our
audht have not beenrecewved fraom
branches not visited by us, or

¢ the parent Cormnpany financial
statements and the part of the
Directors' Remuneration Report to be
audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns, or

e certaindisclosures of Directors’
remuneration specified by law are
not made, or

s we have not recewved all the
information and explanations we
require for our audit, or




a corporate governance statement
has not been prepared by the parent
Company

Under the Listing Rules we are required
toreview

the Directors’ statement, set out on
page 20, in relation to going concern

the parts of the Corporate
Governance Staternent relating to
the Company’s compliance with the
nine provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code specified for our
review and

certain elements of the report to
shareholders by the Board on
Directors remuneration

Stuart Newman

(Sentor Statutory Auditor}
for and on behalf of

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and
Statutory Auditors

Norwich

25 March 2013
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Consolidated Income Statement

for the year ended 31 December 2012

2012 2011
£000 £000

Revenue 3 227,279 183 498

Cost of sales 4 (167,683} (137860}
Gross profit 59,596 55638
Distnbution costs 4 (25310} (18,375}
Administrative expenses 4 (31,457} (31418}
Operating profit 2829 5845
Finance costs 8 {2,138) {1555)
Profit before income tax 691 4,290
Analysed as
Undertying profit before income tax* 6,478 8412
Share option expense 26 (541) (409)
Non-recurring costs 5 (4.002) (2.398)
Amortisation of intangibles 12 (1,244} (1315)
Profit before income tax 3 691 4,290
Income tax (expense)/credi 9 (363} 22
Profit for the year 328 4312

Earnings per Ordinary share attributable to owners of the Company
Basic 11 0% 120p
Diluted 11 09 120p

* Profit before tncome tox non-recurning costs, amortisation of intangtbles and share option expense

The Company has elected to take the exemption under 5.408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present the Company's income
statement or statement of comprehensive income  The profit for the Company was £97 000{2011 £4 097 000)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 31 December 2012

2012 2011

E£000 ECGDO

Profit for the year 328 4312
Other comprehensive income

Currency translation differences {43) {75)

Total comprehensive income for the year 285 4,237
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Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets

as at 31 December 2012

Assets

Non-current assets

Consoldated

2012
E000

2011
£000

Intangible assets 12 57.878 58,671 - -
Property plant and equipment 13 3,225 3316 - -
Investments i subsidiaries 14 - - 9,156 8615
Retirement benefit asset 24 450 105 - -
Deferred income tax assets 15 1,039 1391 - -
62,632 63,483 9,156 8615
Current assets
Inventories 16 9,045 8974 - -
Trade and other receivables 17 37,839 28,965 5,654 9670
Current income tax asset 22 155 g8 - -
Cashand cash equivalents 18 1,725 1169 - -
48,764 39 206 5654 9670
Total assets 111,396 102689 14810 18285
Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to the awners of the Company
Ordinary shares 25 363 363 363 363
Share premium account 5.009 5009 5,008 5009
QOther reserves 41 84 - -
Retained earnings 14,127 17386 9,413 12888
Total equity 19,540 22842 14,785 18260
Liabidities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 20 12,322 17,515 - -
Deferred income tax habihities 15 1,283 1520 - -
Provisions 23 495 470 - -
14,100 19505 - -
Current habilities
Trade and other payables 19 59,200 48362 25 25
Borrowings 20 18,435 11,304 . -
Provisicns 23 121 675 . -
72,756 60342 25 25
Total liabilities 91,856 79 847 25 25
Total equity and liablities 111396 102689 14,810 18285

The financial statements compnising the consalidated ncome statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the

consolidated and Company balance sheets the conscolidated and Company statements of changes in equity the consolidated and

Company statements of cash flows the significant accounting policies and information and the notes to the financial statements were

approved for 1ssue by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2013

D I Callear - Chatrman
25March 2013

Registered number 04083206
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2012

Share
Ordinary prermum Other Retaned Total
shares account reserves eamings equity
MNote E£000 £000 £000 EQ00 £000
Balance at 1 January 2012 363 5009 84 17386 22842
Profit for the year - - - 328 328
Other comprehensive incame - - {43) - (43)
Tatal comprehensive income for the
year ended 31 December 2012 - - (43) 328 285
Employee share aptions
- value of employee services 26 - - - 476 476
- deferred tax on share options 9 - - - 50 50
Dividends
- Ordinary shares 10 - - - {4113) (4113}
- - (43) (3259) (3302}
Balance at 31 December 2012 363 5,009 41 14,127 19,540
Share
Ordinary premium Other Retained Total
shares account reserves Barnings equity
EOOO

£000 £000

£000

E0DO

Balance at 1 January 2011 363 5009 159 16770 22301

Profit for the year - - - 4312 4312

Other comprehensive income - - (75) - {75)

Total comprehensive income for the

year ended 31 December 2011 - - (75} 4312 4237

Employee share options

- value of employee services 26 - - - 342 342

- deferred tax on share options g - - - 6 6

Sale of shares by employee benefit trust - - - 51 51

Dwidends

- Ordinary shares 10 . - - (4095) {4,095}
- - {75) 616 541

Balance at 31 December 2011 363 5009 84 17386 22842

Share premium account

The share premiwsm account represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares issued and the ameount receved

for them This 1s a non-distributable reserve

Other reserves

Other reserves relate to foreign exchange translation differences on the net assets of overseas subsidiaries Thisisa

non-distributable reserve
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Company Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2012

Share

Ordinary premum Retained Total

shares account earmings equity

Nate E0OO £000 EQQO £000

Batance at 1 January 2012 363 5009 12888 18,260

Profit for the year - - 97 97

Total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2012 - - 97 97

Credit ta reserves for share based payments 26 - - 541 541
Dividends

- Ordinary shares 10 - - {4,113} {4,113)

- - {3475) (3475)

Balance at 31 December 2012 363 5.00% 9,413 14,785

Share

Ordwnary premum Retaned Total

shares account earnings equity

Note E000 EQOD £000 £000

Balance at 1 January 2011 363 5009 12426 17798

Profit for the year - - 4097 4097

Total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2011 - - 4,097 4097

Credit to reserves for share based payments 26 . - 409 409

Sale of shares by employee benefit trust - - 51 51
Drvidends

- Ordinary shares 10 - - {4,095) {4095}

- - 462 462

Balance at 31 December 2011 363 5002 12888 18260

Share premium account

The share premwum account represents the difference between the nominal value of the shares issued and the amount receved
for them This 1s a non-distributable reserve

Qther reserves
Other reserves relate to foreign exchange translation differences on the net assets of overseas subsidiaries Thisis a
non-distributable reserve
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Consolidated and Company Statements of Cash Flows

for the year ended 31 December 2012

[ Consolidated H Company |
2012 2011 2012 2011

Note £000 E0cC EODO £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from/{used ) operations 27 6,536 10 870 4,016 {53)
Interest pad {2,130) {1251) - -
Income tax patd {255) {783) - -
Net cash generated from/f{usedn) operating activities 4,151 8836 4,016 (53)

Cash flows from 1avesting activities

Purchase of property plant and equipment {1,140) {950) - .
Capitalised software (451) - - -
Proceeds from disposal of trading actwities 358 - - -
Interest received - - 97 97
Dwidends receved - - - 4000
Net cash {used in}/generated from investing actities {1,233) (950} 97 4097

Cash flows from financing activities

Finance tease principal payments (551) (288) - -
Repayment of borrowings (2,500) {2,500) - -
Arrangernent fee on re-financing - (683) -

Sale of shares by employee benefit trust - 51 - 51
Duwidends pad to Company's shareholders 10 {4.113) {4 095) {4.113) {4 095)
Net cash used infinancing activities {7.164) (7.515) {4,113) (4 044)

Net ([decreaselfincrease in cash cash equivalents

and bank overdrafts (4,.246) 36l - -
Cash cash equwvalents and bank averdrafts at 1 January 18 (7,498) (7 859) - -
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at 31 December 18 {i1,744) (7,498} - -

Net debt at 31 December comprises

Consolidated 1 Company ]

2012 2011 2012 2011

£000 £000 EQOG EDQO
Cash cash equivalents and bank overdrafts (11,744} {7,498) - -
Finance leases (232} {(725) - -
Bank lgans (17.056) (19427) . -
Net debt at 31 December (29,032) ({27650) - -
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Significant Accounting PoliCies wrmeyes enteda: vecember 212

General information

office2office plc {the Company} and its
subsidaries {the Group) provide managed
procuremnent and bustness critical
services The Group operates i the United
Kingdom and Republic of ireland

The Company 15 a public limited
company, which is listed on the London
Stock Exchange and\1s incorporated and
domiciled in the Urited Kingdom The
address of its registered office s

St Crispins, Duke Street, Norwich,

NR3 1PD

Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies applied
in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements, and applied by the
Company as appropriate, are set out
below These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated

The consolidated financial statements of
the Group and the individual financiat
statements of the Company have been
prepared In accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the EuropeanUnion (iFRSs as adopted
by the EU), IFRS-IC{IFRS Interpretations
Commuttee) interpretations and the
Compantes Act 2006 as apphcable to
companes reporting under IFRS The
consolidated financial statements have
been preparedunder the historical cost
convention

The preparation of financial statements
i conforrnity with IFRS requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates
it also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying
the Group's accounting policies The
areas invalving a higher degree of
judgement or complexty, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are
sigmficant to the cansolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in note 2

Going concern

The Group has net current habihties as
at 31 December 2012 The Group has
traded profitably since the batance
sheet date with the profits generated
contnibuting to the funding of the
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Group's working capital requirements in
addition, the Group meets its day-to-
day working capital requirements
through sufficient and appropriate
credit facilities that are commutted untd
June 2015 The Group's forecasts
wndicate that its able to operate within
the level of its current facthties for the
foreseeable future Accordingly, the
Directors, having made appropriate
enguiries, consider it reasonable to
assume that the Group and the
Company have adequate resources to
continue for the foreseeable future and,
for this reason, have cantinued ta adopt
the gaing concern basis in preparing the
financial statements

Recent accounting
developments

Standards, amendments and
interpretations effective for the first
time in the year ended 31 December
2012

There are no IFRSs or IFRIC
tnterpretations that are effective for
the first time for the financial year
beginming on or after 1 January 2012
that would be expectedto have a
material impact on the Group

The foflowing amendments to existing
standords and interpretations were
also effective for the current yecr, but
the adoption of these amendments to
existing standards and
nterpretations did not have o
matenol impact on the Group

+ Amendment to IFRS 1 on
hyperinflation and fixed dates

* Amendment to IFRS 7, ‘Financual
nstruments Disclosures'

* Amendment to 1AS 12, ‘Income
taxes' on deferred tax

Standards, amendments and
interpretations that are not yet
effective and have not been early
odopted

s Amendment to IAS 1, 'Financial
Statement Presentation’

* Amendment to IAS 19, ‘Employee
benefits’

* Amendment to IAS 32, Financial
instruments Presentation’

¢ |AS 27 [revised 2011), 'Seperate
financial statements’

¢ |FRS 9 Financial instruments'

s |FRS 10,'Consolidated financial
statements’

¢ |FRS 12 Disclosures of interests in
other entittes’

¢ |FRS 13 'Far value measurement’

Standards, amendments and
nterpretations that are not yet
effective and not currently refevant to
the Group

* [AS 28 (revised 2011), ‘Associates
and jomnt ventures’

* Amendment to IFRS 1, First time
adoptien’

s IFRS 11, Joint arrangements’

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities over which
the Greup has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one half of the voting
nghts Theexistence and effect of
potential voting nights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are
constderad when assessing whether the
Group cantrols another entity
Subsidiartes are fully consolidated from
the date onwhich controt is transferred
to the Group They are de-consclidated
from the date that control ceases

The subsidiary undertakings included
within these financial statements are
shown innote 14 to the financial
statements

The acquisition method of accounting 1s
used to account for business
combinations The cost of an acquisttion
1s measured as the fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued
and habilites incurred or assumed at the
date of exchange |dentifiable assets
acquired and liabifities and contingent
habilities assumed in a business
combinaton are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date,
irrespective of the extent of any
minority interest The excess of the cost
of the acquisitton over the fair value of
the Group's share of the identifiable net
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assets acquired 15 recorded as goodwill
If the cost of the acquisition s less than
the fair value of the net assets of the
subsichary acquired, the difference 1s
recognised directly tn the income
statement Directly attributable costs
associated with a business combsnation
are recogrised in the income statement

Inter-company transactions, balances
and unrealised gawns on transactions
between Group campanies are
eliminated on consolidation Unrealised
losses on transactions between Group
compantes are also eliminated but are
conswdered for tmpairment purposes in
respect of the asset transferred
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been aligned where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group

Revenue

Revenue 1s measured by reference to the
fairvalue of considerationreceived by the
Group from goods supplied and services
provided to external customers Revenue
15 stated after deducting rebates, retums
and other similar discounts, and after
eliminating sales between Group
companies and is exclustve of value added
tax Revenue 1s recognised upon the
performance of services or when the
sigmficant nisks and rewards of ownership
are transferred to a customer, which
occurs on delivery of goads or inthe case
of ex-works arrangements, when custody
of goods I1s transferred to the customers’
logistics provider

Supply of goods

Our Managed Procurement segment
provides a stock and distribution
operation for the supply of stationery
and office products, furmiture and
technology products Revenue is
recognised once the delivery to the
customer has been completed

Supply of services

Our Business Critical Services segment
15 a service based operation providing
print management, document
management, marketing services, drect
marketing, professional consuttancy and
on and off site shredding services

The value attributed to the servicers
determined through contractual prices
agreed prior to the commencement of
the work with the customer Where
there are retained customer
arrangements and a range of services
are provided, the revenue for gach
separate service is recognised when all
the elements of that service are
complete, with amounts accrued or
deferred on the balance sheet as
appropniate, each separate service is
generally subject tospecific pricing

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reportedna
manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief
operating dectsion-maker The chief
operating decision-maker, which s
responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating
segments has beendentified as the
Executive Board of Directors

Foreign currency translation

The financial \nformation in this reportis
presented in Sterling, the functional and
presentationat currency of the Company,
rounded to the nearest thousand

Transactions denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into Sterling
at the rate of exchange ruling at the
date of transaction All realised foresgn
exchange differences are taken to the
ncome statement Monetary assets and
labiities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into Sterling
at the rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date and are recagnised
wnthe ncome statement

The results and financial position of the
Group entities that have a functional
currency different from the presentational
currency are translated into the
presentational currency as follows

* assets and habikshies for each balance
sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet,

* income and expenses for each
incomne statement are franslated at
average exchange rates {unless this
average Is not areasonable

approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevatling on the
transaction dates, .n which case
income and expensas are translated
at therate on the dates of the
transactions) and

* allresulting exchange differences are
recognised in the statement of
comprehensive Income

Non-recurring costs

Non-recurning costs are those
significantiterns which are separately
disclosed by virtue of therr size or
incidence to enable a full understanding
of the Group's financial performance
Transactions which may give rise to non-
recurring costs are princepally
restructuring related and business
start-up or closure costs, costs in
respect of key management changes,
transaction costs incurred in respect of
business combinations, gains or losses
on disposal of trading activities and
costs asscciated with the closure of
employee pension schemes

Business combinations and
goodwill

Goodwilt arising on consohidation
represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the
Group's share of the net assets/net
kabuites of the acquired subsidiary at
the date of acquisition If the cost of
acquisitionis fess than the fair value of
the Group's share of the net assets/net
habilities of the acquired entity (e a
discount on acquisition} then the
difference 1s credited to the income
statement in the period of acquisition
Goodwall1s ellocated to cash generating
units for the purposes of impairment
testing and ts tested annually for
impairment (refer to impairment of
assets policy) and carned at cost less
accumulated impatrment losses

At the acquisttion date of a subsidiary,
goodwill acquired 15 recognised as an
asset and is allocated to each of the cash-
generatingumits expected to benefit
from the business combination's
synergles and to the lowest level at which
management monttors the goadwall
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On disposal of a subsidary the
attributable amount of goodwill s
ncluded in the determination of the
profit or toss on disposal

Goodwill acquired up to 31 December
2003 was capttalised and amortised
over (ts useful economic hfe As
permitted by IFRS 1, 'First-time
Adoption of Internatianal Financial
Reporting Standards; the classification
and accounting treatment of business
combinations made prior to 1 January
2004 was not amended on transition
te [FRS

Other intangible assets

The Group recognises mtangible assets
as part of business combinations at fair
value at the date of acquisition The
determination of these fair valuesis
based upon management's judgement
and includes assumptions on the timing
and amount of future tncremental cash
flows generated by the assets acquired
and the selection of an appropriate cost
of capital The useful ives of intangible
assets are estimated and amortisation
charged on a straight-line basis

Customer relationships

Customer relationships are recognised
as intangible assets at the fair value of
the consideration paid to acquire them
less pravisions for amortisation and
impawment The fair value attributed to
the customer refationships acquired
through a business combination is
determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows to be generated from
that asset at the risk adjusted, post tax,
weighted average cost of capital at the
time of the acquisition for that business
combination The residual values of
customer retationships are assumed to
be £nil

Amortisation is provided so as to write
off the cost of the customer
relationships over the expected
economic lives of the asset in equal
annual instalments as follows

Customer relationships ansing on the
acquisttion of

TripteArc ple

{BMC) 10years
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Accord Office Supplies Limited
{Accord)

The Print Factory (London} 1981
Liruted and DSR Group Limited
(BMC)

10 vyears

10vyears

Martin Luck Limited - Newbury branch
(Accord) 10vyears

Brands

Brands are recognised as intangible
assets at the fair value of the
consideration paid to acquire them less
provisions for amortisation and
impairment The fair value attributed to
the brands acquired threugh a business
combinationis determined by
discounting the expected future cash
flows that would be generated by a
royalty stream in respect of the brands,
at the risk adjusted, post tax, wesghted
average cost of capital at the time of
the acquisttion for that business
combination The residual values of
brands are assumed to be £ril

Amortisation 1s provided so as to write
off the cost of the brands over the
expected economic lives of the asset in
equal annual instalments as follows

TripteArc plc
(BMC)

Accord Office Supplies Limited
(Accord)

Software

10vyears

19 years

Costs associated with maintaining
software are expensed as wncurred
Development costs controtied internally
and directly attributable to the design
and testing of identifiable software are
recognised as intangible assets when
there 1s an abtlity and intention to use or
sell the software preduct, completion of
the software 1s reasonably certain and
the expenditure attributable to the
software during its development can be
reliably measured Directly attributable
costs, that are capitalised as part of the
software product include the software
development employee costs and an
appropriate partion of relevant
overheads

Other development expenditures that
do not meet these critena are
recogmsed as an expense as incurred
Development costs previously

recognised as an expense are not
recognised as an asset n a subsequent
pernod

Purchased software 1s recogmised as an
intangible asset at the fair value of the
consideration pawd to acquire it less
provistons for amortisation and
impawment

Software 1samortised on a straight line
basis over its useful economic hife of 3-5
years

The amortisation charge inrespect of
custarner relationships, brands and
software 1s recognised within
admunistrative expenses

Impairment of non-financial
assets

Assets thathave an indefinite useful
life, for example, goodwill are not
subject to amortisation and are tested
annually forimpatrment Assets that are
subject to amertisation or depreciation
are reviewed for Imparrment whenever
events or changes n circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable Animpairment loss
1s recognised for the amount by which
the asset's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount The recoverable
amount 1s the ligher of an asset’s far
value tess costs to sell and value in use
For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows {cash-
generating units)

Inrespect of assets other than goodwill,
animpairment loss i1s reversed if there
has been achange 1n the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount
Animpatrment loss ts reversed anly to
the extent that the asset’s carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been
deterrmined, net of depreciation or
amortesation, if no impairment foss had
been recognised

Impairment losses recagmsed in
respect of goadwill are not
subsequently reversed
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated
at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated
impawrment losses Historical costs
include expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acqusttion of the
items The assets'residual values and
usefullives are reviewed annually and
adjusted as appropriate

Subsequent costs are included 1 the
asset’s carryng amount o recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it 1s probable that future economc
benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably The
carrying amount of the replaced part 1s
derecognised Al other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the ncome
statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred

Gains and tosses on disposal are
determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are
recognised in the income statement

Depreciation commences in the menth
that the assets are fully instatled and
commissioned and 1s provided ana
straght line basis atrates calculated to
write off the cost, less estimated
residual value, of each asset over its
expected useful kfe, as follows

Freehold land and buildings
- gver 40 years

Short leasehold land and buildings
- over the lease term

Plant and machwnery
-over4to 15 years

Office equipment
- aver 3to L0 years

The depreciation charge n respect of
freehold land and buildings, short
leasehold land and buildings, plant and
machtnery and office equipment 1s
recognised within distribution costs and
admunistrative expenses

Investmants

In the Company’s financial statements,
investments in subsidiary undertakings
are inttially stated at cost, being the far

value of the consideration given
Investments are reviewed where an
indication of impairment exists An
impatrment loss 1s recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount
The recoverable amount ts the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use

Leased assets

Assets held under finance leases, as
defined under IAS 17, ‘Leases, are
capitalised and included as part of
property, plant and equupment They are
depreciated over thewr usefultives or
the lease term {if shorter] The capital
elements of future obligations under
finance leases are included as habilities
in the balance sheet The interest
element of the rental obligations is
charged to the income statement over
the period of the lease and represents a
canstant proportion of the balance of
capital repayments outstanding

Leases tn which a significant proportion
af the nisks and rewards of ownership
are retained by the lessor are classified
as operating leases Rentals payable
under operating ieases are charged to
the income statement on a straght-line
basis over the term of the lease

Benefits received and recewvable as an
incentwve to enter a lease are spread
evenly over the lease term

Inventories

Inventories comprise of finished goods
and goods held far resale and are stated
at the lower of cost or net realisable
value Costincludes alt expenditure
directly attributable to bringing each
product to its present location and
condition on a first m first out method
Net realisable value 1s based on
estimated selling price less further
costs expected to be ncurred to
completon and disposal

Provision for obsolete, slow moving and
defective inventories are made ona line
by line basis, where necessary, in order
to reduce nventory to the lower of cost
or netrealisable value

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents shown on the
balance sheet comprise cashbalances
and deposits with banks that have a
maturity of three months oriess from
the date of inceptton

Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings In current habilities on the
balance sheet,but are included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purposes of the statement of
cash flow as they form an integral part
of the Group's cash management

Bank overdrafts include cash book
overdrafts and confidentiat invoice
discounting arrangernents whereby the
amount borrowed 15 imited to a
progortien of the trade recewvables

Provisions

The Group makes provision for
habiities when it has alegat or
constructwe obhgation ansing from a
past event, it 1s probable that an
cutflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and the amount
can be reliably estimated

Provisians for property dilaptdations
represent the current estimated costs
ta repair {eased properttes which are
requrred to be made good before the
properties are returned at the end of
the lease term Provistons are made ona
property by property basis and the
timing of the utilisation wili differ for
each property

Provisions for onerous leases are
recognised when the Group beleves
that the unavoidable costs of meeting
the lease obligations exceed the
economic benefits expected to be
received under the lease

Provisions are measured at the present
value of the expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the
obligation The increase in the pravision
due to passage of time 1srecognised as
Interest expense
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Retirement benefit costs

Group companies operate both defined
benefit and defined contribution
pension plans

The Group maintams a defined benefit
pension scheme for former employees
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office,
which requires contributions to be made
to a separately administered fund The
scheme currently has 162 members and
ts closed to new members The scheme
closed to future accrual on 31
December 2011 The schemes
administered by trustee directors of
Banner Business Supplies {Pensions)
Limited, which ts a whoily owned
subsidiary of office2office (UK} ple, &
substdiary company of office2office ple

The net surplus or deficit of the defined
benefit pension scheme s calculated in
accordance with [AS 19, ‘Employee
Benefits, based on the fair value of the
plan assets tess the present value of the
defined benefit abligation at the
balance sheet date

The deftned benefit obligation s
calcutated annuatly by independent
actuaries using the projected urt credit
method The present value of defined
benefit obligations s determined by
discounting the estimated future cash
outflows using interest rates of high-
quality corporate bonds that are
determuned n the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and have terms to
maturity appreximating to the terms of
the related pension liability

The Group has, in respect of 1AS 19
and IFRS 1, adopted the corridor
approach to account far its penston
scheme Liability As a result, all
cumulative actuarial gains and losses
at the date of transition to IFRS (1
January 2004} were taken directly to
reserves Inrespect of actuarial gains
and losses that arse subsequent to
that date, ta the extent that,
cumulatively, they exceed 10 per cent
of the greater of the present value of
the defined benefit obligation and the
fair value of the plan assets, that
portion is recognised in the income
statement over the expected average
remamning warking lives of the
employees participating in the plan
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from the accounting period following
the year of exceeding the corndor
Otherwise, the accumutated actuar:al
gawns andlosses are not recognised
With effect from 1 January 2013,
modifications to [AS 19 wall no longer
permit the use of the corndor
appreach, after which the full provision
wilt be reguired for actuarial habilities

Where the actuanal valuation of the
scheme demonstrates that the scheme
1510 surplus, the recognised asset s
himited to that for which the Group can
benefit 1 future, for example, by
refunds or a reduction in contributions

The cost charged to admimstrative
expenses in the ncome statement
consists of current service cost,
interest cost, expected return on plan
assets and the impact of any
settiements or curtaillments, as well as
actuanal gawns or losses to the extent
that they are recognised

A valuationis performed annually by an
independent actuary Further detaiis in
respect of the assumptions used in
providing the valuatian are included in
note 24 to the financial statements

Since 30 September 1996, all new
employees have been eligible tojoin the
Group's personal pension scheme, which
15 a defined cantribution schemne
Contributions to defined contributton
arrangements are charged to the income
statement in the period in which they fall
due The assets of the scheme are held
separately from those of the Group inan
independently admimstered fund

Share-based compensation

The Group operates anumber of share-
based compensation schemes including
aSAYE scheme whichis open to all
employees The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange
for the grant of options {approximated
by reference to the fair value of the
aption granted) Is recognised as an
expense The fair value of the optionis
measured at grant date and spread over
the vesting peried {which 1s the period
over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied) through
the income statement with a

correspanding increase tn equity The
far value of the share options and
awards are measured using an option-
pricing model taking into account the
terms and conditions of the individual
schemes The faw value of options
awarded under schemes with market
based performance conditions 1s
estimated using a Monte-Carlo model
The faur value of options awarded under
schemes with non-market based
performance conditions 15 estimated
using a Black-Scholes model

Shares purchased through the employee
benefit trust (EBT) are held at cost and
treated as Treasury Shares and are
deducted from retained earmings The
right to & dividend and voting rights on
these shares has been waived

When options are exercised, the
Company sells shares through the EBT
to satisfy the options

The Group makes charges to the incame
staternent for any potential employer's
national snsurance liability on options
granted, based on the Directors'best
estimate of the fair value of the options
granted at the balance sheet date and
spread over the vesting period of the
option

The fair value of the options granted
under the various schemes has been
accounted for in the Group's finarcial
statements The grant by the Company of
options over its equity instrurments to the
employees of subsidiary undertakings in
the Group s treated as a capital
contribution The farr value of employee
sarvices recaived, measured by reference
to the grant date fair value, i1s recognised
over the vesting periad as an increase to
investment in subsidiary undertakings,
with a corresponding credit to equity

At each balance sheet date, the
Company revises its estimate of the
number of options that are going to
vest The Group recognises the impact
of any revision to original estimates, if
any, in the ncome statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity The
proceeds onexercise of options, net of
any directly attributable transaction
costs, are credited to share capital (at
nomnal value}and share premium when
the options are exercised
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Current and deferred
income tax

The tax charge for the period comprises
both current and deferred tax Tax s
recognised in the income statement
except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised directly in equity, in
which case it 1s recognised 1n equity

Current tax s the expected tax payable
on the taxable income for the period and
any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous periods, and 1s
calculated on the basts of tax rates {and
laws) that have been substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax 1s prowided in full using the
batance sheet kabihty method on
temporary differences between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying value for accounting purposes

Deferred tax 1s determined on anon-
discounted basis using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and which are expected to
apply when the related deferred tax
asset s realised or deferred tax habdity
is settled

Where the intrinsic value of a share
option exceeds the fawr value, the
corresponding deferred tax on the
excess s recognised directly in equity

A deferred tax asset1s recogrised only
to the extent that it 1s probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available
to utilise the temporary difference

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and financial biabilities
arerecogrised on the Group's balance
sheet when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the
nstrument

The Group ctassifies its financial
assets and liabilities in the following
categories loans and receivables, and
other financial habiities The
classification depends on the purpose
for which the financial assets or
liabilities were acquired Management
determines the classification of its
financial assets and iabilities at imtial
recogmtion The classification of

financial habilities is determinedn
accordance with IFRS 7 taking account
of the repayment profile of the
kabitity For those with fixed or
determinable payment profiles the
amounts are recognmised as either
current habilittes or, where amounts
are not due for more than 12 months
after the reporting period, as non-
current habilities

Trade recevables

Trade recevables are recognised
inttiatly at faw value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less
pravision for impairment A provision
for impairment of trade receivablesis
established when there Is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able
to collect all amounts due according to
the onginal terms of the recetvables
Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial
reorgamsation and default or
delinquency in payments (more than 60
days overdue) are considered \ndicators
that the trade receivable 1s impaired
The amount of the provision s the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows The
carry:ng amount of the asset 1s reduced
through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss 15 recogmsed
in the ncome statement within cost of
sales When a trade recewvable 1s
uncollectable, it 1s written off against
the allowance account for trade
receivables Subsequent recoveries of
amouns previously written off are
credited against cost of sales in the
income statemant

Borrowings

Borrowings are recogrused initially at
far value net of transaction costs
Barrowings are subsequently stated at
amortised cost any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value 1 recognised
wn the iIncome statement aver the perod
of the borrowings using the effective
interest method

Borrowings are classified as current
habiities unless the Group has an

unconchitional right to defer settlement
of the labiity for at least 12 months
after the balance sheet date

Trade payables

Trade payables are not interest bearing
and ar e recoguised imtially at fair value
and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective
nterest method

Equity instruments

Egquity wmstruments issued by the
Comnpany are recorded at the proceeds
receved, net of direct 15sue costs
Where any Group company purchases
the Company's equity share caputal
{treasury shares), the consideration
patd, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes)
1s deducted from equity attributable to
the Company's owners untd the shares
are cancelled or reissued Where such
shares are subsequently reissued, any
consideration recewved, net of any
directly attributable wicremental
transaction costs and the related
income tax effects, 1s included in equity
attributable to the Company's owners

The Group assesses at each balance
sheet date whether there 1s objective
evidence that a financial assetor a
group of financial assets 1s mpared

The above financial assets and habtlities
are grouped as follows

¢ Cashand cash equivalents and trade
and other recewables {excluding
prepayments} are classified as loans
and recewables for the purpose of
IFRS7

Borrowings, finance leases and trade
and other payables (excluding
statutory habihities) are classified as
other financial liabthtes at amortised
cost for the purpose of IFRS 7

Dividends

Distributions to owners are disclosed as
acomponent of the movernent i the
statement of changes in shareholders’
equity Aliability 1s recorded for a final
dividend when the dwidend 1s approved
by the Company's shareholders Interun
dwidends are recognised int the period
which they are paid
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Slgnlﬁca nt ACCOU nt[ng Policies for the year ended 31 December 2012

Use of non-GAAP profit
measures

The Dwectors believe that the use of
underlying profit before income tax
provides a clearer understanding of the
performance of the Group This
measure ts used for internal
performance analysis Underlying profit
1s not defined by IFRS and therefore
may not be directly comparable with
other companies’ adjusted profit
measures It1s notintended tabe a
substitute for, or superiar to, [FRS
measurements of profit

Underlyting profit is calculated as fotlows
2012 2011
£000 €000

Profit before incorme tax 691 4290

Add

Share aption charges (note 26) 541 409
Non-recurring costs (nate 5) 4,002 23498
Amortisation of intangibtes {note 12} 1,244 1,315
Underlying profit before income tax 6478 8412
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1. Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a vaniety of financial risks market risk (sincluding currency risk, commodity price risk and cash
flow and far value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity nsk The Group's overall nsk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects an the Group's financial performance

(a) Marketrisk
(1) Currencyrisk

The Group operates tn the United Kingdom and Republic of Irefand and, accordingly, has limited exposure to foreign exchange
risk Currency risk 1s managed by matching, where possible, cash inflows and outflows denominated in Euros

The Group does not currently hedge any foreign currency transactions but continues to keep this policy under review

Management have cansidered and concluded that a movement of 10% would be a reasonable benchmark over which to
determine the sensitivity of the Group's performance ta foreign exchange rate risk, because a movement of this magnitude is
considered to be a reasonable approximation of moverments that could be expected to occur For the year ended 31 December
2012, +f the Euro had weakened/strengthened by 10% against Sterling with ail ather variables held constant, post-tax profit and
the movernent in net assets for the year would have been £29,000 (2011 £75,000) lower/tugher, as a result of foreign exchange
gansflosses on translation of the Euro-denominated transactions and monetary assets and labilities at fair value through profit
of loss

The calaulation applied in determining the impact of a 109 movemnent tn exchange rates is based upon adjusting the average
exchange rates by 10% on the Euro-denominated transactions

{u} Commodity price risk

The Group has exposure to changes in commodity prces such as steel, ol and paper (including supplier price increases as a resutt
of foreign exchange movements), which form a constituent part of many of the products sold It 1s the policy of the Group to pass
on these unavoidable cost price increases to customers as appropriate

The Group does not currently hedge tts expesure to commodity prices but continues to keep this policy under review

Management have conswered and concluded that a movement of 196 in gross margin percentage would be a reasonable
benchmark over which to determine the sensitivity of the Group's performance to commodity price risk, because a moverment of
this magnitude 1s considered to be a reasonable approximation of movements that could expect to be incurred by the Group For
the year ended 31 December 2012, if the gross margin percentage had weakened/strengthened by 1% with all other varables
held constant, gross profit for the year would have been £2,273,000 (2011 £1,935,000} lower/higher

(w) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group has mterest-heartng assets in the form of cash and cash equivalents The Company has interest-bearing assets i the
farm of loans to subsidiary companies Therefore interest income 1s sensitive to movements in interest rates

The Group's interest rate risk predominantly arises from short and long-term borrowings Borrowings 1ssued at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk Borrowings 1ssued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate
risk During 2011 and 2012, the Group's borrowings, other than in respect of finance leases, were all at variable rates and all
borrowings were denominated in Sterling

The Group continues to keep its policy of not hedging its exposure to interest rate movements under review

Far the year ended 31 Becember 2012, management have considered and concluded that a movement of 100 basis pants would
be areasonable benchmark over which to determine the sensitity of the Group's performance to interest rate risk, because a
movement of this magnitude s considered to be a reasonable approximation of movements that could be expected to occur If
interest rates on borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the
year would have been £316,000 (2011 £252,000) lower/higher, as a result of higher/lower interest expense ori floating rate
borrowings

(b} Creditrisk

Credit risk 1s managed on a Group basts Credt risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial
institutions as well as credit expasure to customers, including outstanding recewvables and commuttad transactions

For barks and financial institutions only independently rated parties with a mimimum rating of A are accepted 1n normal
crcumstances
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Internally customers are rated according to financial position, history of trading and other factors Individual credit imits are
based oninternal and external ratings, 1n accordance with limits set by management The utilisation of credit mits s regularly
monitored Concentrations of credit nsk with respect to trade recewvables are imited due to the Group’s diverse customer base

{c) Liqudity risk

Prudent liquidity sk management implies maintatming sufficient cash and the avadability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's iquidity reserve (comprising undrawn borrowing facilities and cash and
cash equivalents) on the basis of expected cash flows

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities which will be settled on a net basis into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date ta the contractual maturity date

The amounts shown are contractual (including interest), undiscounted cash flows

At 31 December 2012 Less than Between Between Over
1year land 2 years 2and 5 years S years

£000 E£000 £0O0 £000

Barrowings {excluding finance lease liabilities) 18928 4281 8570 -
Finance leases 146 29 65 14
Trade payables and accrued expenses 53977 - - -
73,051 4310 8,635 14

At 31 December 2011 Less than ) Batween Between Over
1year 1and 2 years 2 and 5 years 5 years

£000 E000 EOQQ £000

Barrowings (excluding finance lease habilities) 11,888 4,101 14,583 -
Finance leases 327 341 g7 16
Trade payables and accrued expenses 45219 - - -
57 434 4,442 14,680 16

There have been no breaches in the contractual terms of the amounts shown above

In addhtion to short-term borrowing facihties, the Group refinanced a £20,000,000 loan on 19 May 2011 The loan is repayable in
instalments between June 2012 and June 2015, with interest charged at a floating rate linked to LIBOR A matunity analysis s
provided at note 20 to the financial statements
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Currency nsk profile of financial assets/labilities
The Group did not have a material exposure to foreign exchange gains or losses on financal assets and iabilities denominated in
forewgn currencies at 31 December 2012 and has not used any instruments to hedge foreign currency transactions

Financial assets/{liabilities) relating to cash balances and overdrafts held at financial mstitutions are at floating rates
denominated i the currency held below

2012 2011

£000 EQDO

Sterling - deposits 389 824
Sterling - bank overdrafts {13,489) (8667}
{13.080) {7843}

Euro - deposits 1,154 345
Swedish Krona - deposits 182 -
(11,744} {7,498)

There is no matenal currency nsk relating to other financial assets or liabiltties

Fair values of financial instruments
See note 20 for consideration of the differences between the carrying amount and the fau value of borrowings The fair value of
other financial assets and iabitities 1s not materally different to their book vatue due to the short termmaturity of the instruments

Committed and uncommitted undrawn facllities
The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facifities

2012 2011

£000 EGDO
Grass undrawn commutted confidential invoice discounting facility 21,353 18290
Revolving credtt facility - 3000
Short-term averdraft 1,000 -
Cash baok overdraft (2822) {1957}
Net undrawn faclities 19,531 19,333
Bank balances 1,725 1,169
Avaiable liquidity 21,256 20,502

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had drawn £5,647,000 against its committed invoice discounting facihity At that date the
Group had a cash book overdraft of £2,822000 (2011 £1,957,000) and bank balances of £1,725000{2011 £1,169,000)
If all payments had cleared on the day of 1ssue, the Group would have had net available hquidity of £21,256,000

{2011 £20,502,000)

The confidential invaice discounting facdity 1s a commutted facility, subject to sufficient security from trade recewables, expiring
inlune 2015

The Group has sufficient headroom to enable it to conform to cavenants on s existing borrowings The Group has sufficient
working caprtal and undrawn financing facdities to service uts operating activities and finance further suitable acquisition
opportunities should they arise

There have been no breaches in the covenants on borrowings in the year ended 31 December 2012 and up to the date of signing
the financial statements

Caputal risk management

The Group's palicy s to rnaintam a strong capital base, defined as facilities plus total shareholders’ equity, so as to maintamn
wvestor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business Within this overall policy, the Group
seeks to mawntain an optimum capital structure by a mixture of debt and retained earnings Funding needs are reviewed
pertodically and also each time a significant acquisttion is made A number of factors are considered which include the net
debtfearnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation {EBITDA) ratio, future funding needs {usually potental
acquisttions) and Group banking arrangements {including the monitering of debt covenants over current funding arrangements)
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There were no changes to the Group's approach to capital management during the year The primary source of funding for the
Group ts bank borrowings

In order to mawntain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, 1ssue new shares or sell assets toreduce debt

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio, catculated as net debt divided by
total equity Net debt s calculated as total borrowings (including current and non current borrowings, less cash) as shown in the
balance sheet Total equity 1s defined as total equity as shown in the consolidated balance sheet Total capital 15 calculated as
total equity plus net debt

Buring 2012, the Group increased its gearing ratio from 55% to 60% The gearing ratios at 31 December 2012 and 2011 were
as follows

2012 2011

£000 EO0O
Total borrowings (note 20} 30,757 28819
Less cash and cash equivatents {note 18) {1,725) {1169}
Net debt 29,032 27 650
Total equety 19,540 22842
Total captal 48572 50492
Gearing ratio 60% 55%

2. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based an historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasanable under the circumstances

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future The resulting accounting estimates will, by defimtion,
seldom equal the related actual results The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustrment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revistans to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period inwhich the estimate s revised if revision affects anly that period or tn the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods

Determination of cash flows, discount rates used in business combinations and impairment reviews of goodwill and
other intangibles

Discount rates are determined by management for the purpose of valuing fair values of intangible assets ansing on business
combinatwons and to determine the net present value of cash flows i respect of annual impatrment reviews of goodwailt and other
intangibles when appropriate

The discount rates used for the purpose of impairment reviews are based on the appropriate cost of capital adjusted for
management’s perceived risk

The cash flows attributable to the cash-generating unit to which goodwill (and, when appropriate, other intangibles}is atlocated,
are based onmanagements’ best estimates of future profitability and the resulting cash fiows

While management believe the discount rates and cash flows used are the most appropriate rates, changes in these assumptions
could result inimpawrment of goodwill, other intangibles, or i the far vatue of intangibles i respect of business combinations
differing to the values recorded

Income tax

The Group 1s subject to income tax i bath the United Kingdom and the Republic of Irefand Signtficant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income tax There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
1s uncertain during the ordinary course of business Where the final tax outcome of these matters 1s different from the amounts
that were initally recorded, such differences will ympact the income tax and deferred tax provisions i the period wn which such
deterrmunation s made
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Impawrment of inventories

Where necessary, proviston 1s made for obsolete, slow-moving and damaged stock This prowvision represents the difference
between the cost of the stock and its estimated market value, based upon stock turn rates, market conditions and trends in
consumer demand

Allowances for doubtful recetvables

Allowances are made for doubtful recewvables for estwnated losses resulting from the subsequent nability of customers to make
required payments if the financial conditions of customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impawrment of thewr abulity to
make payments, additional aliowances may be required in future periods

Pensions

The determunation of the pension benefit abligation and expense for the defined benefit pension plan 1s dependent on the
selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in calculating such amounts Those assumptions are described in note 24 to
the financial statements and include, among others, the discount rate, the expected long-term rate of increase in future
compensation levels and expected mortality rates A portion of the plan assets are invested (n equity securities The equity
markets have experienced volatulity, which has affected the value of the pension plan assets This volatility may make it difficult
to estimate the long-termrate of return on plan assets Assumptions are based on actual histoncal expenience and external data
regarding compensation and discount rate trends While the Directors believe that the assumptions are appropriate, significant
differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materiatly affect the pension obhigation and
the future expense

Share based payments

The fair value of options awarded under schemes with market based performance conditions 1s estimated using a Monte-Carlo
model The fair value of eptions awarded under schemes with non-market based performance conditions 1s estimated using a
Black-5choles model These models require the use of estimates and forward looking projecttons

3. Segmental information

IFRS 8,'Operating Segments; requires a'management approach; under which segment information s presented on the same
basts as that used for internal reporting purposes The operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports
regularly reviewed by the Executive Board of Directors, the Executive Board of Directors being the chief operating decision-
maker, in order to allocate resources to the segments and ta assess ther respective performance

The Board considers the business from a service perspective The Group is organised into two business segments

» ManagedProcurement, and
» Business Cntical Services

The business units of each reportable segment {Banner Business Services and Truline in respect of Managed Procurement and
Banner Managed Commurication and Banner Document Services in respect of Business Cnitical Services), do not qualify as
reportable segments as decisions about the allocation of resources and the assessment of performance are not made at this level
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The Board assesses the performance of the aperating segments based an ameasure of adjusted earnings before interest,
taxation and amortisation (EBITA) This measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurning expenditure from the
operating segments, such as restructurimg costs An analysis of intangible assets and amortisation, although not included in the
performance measure for the segments, have been included to aid the reader Other information provided to the Board, except as
noted below, 1s measured in a manner consistent with that in the financial statements

Business
Managed Critical
Procurement Services Total

£000 £000 £000

Year ended 31 December 2012

Revenue 147,660 79,619 221,279
Gross margin % 251% 265% 26 2%
Adjusted EBITA 11,215 6,983 18,198
Year ended 31 December 2011

Revenug* 127787 65711 193498
Gross margin %6* 286% 291% 288%
Adusted EBITA* 13017 7035 20052
Total Assets

31 December 2012 54,528 56,518 111,046
31 December 2011 50105 52178 102283
Additions to property, plant and equipment

31 December 2012 633 565 1,198
31 December 2011 851 109 960
Depreciation

31 December 2012 {736) (324) [1,660)
31 December 2011 (461) (334) {795)
Addations to Intangible assets

31 December 2012 134 317 451
31 December 2011 - - -
Intangible assets

31 December 2012 20,389 37.489 57,878
31 December 2011 20475 38196 58671
Amortisation

31 December 2012 (218} {1,026) (1,244)
31 December 2011 (254) {1061} {1315)

*Restated for transfer of business operations (F3 2m revenue and £0 5m gross morgin} into appropriate segment

A reconcihiation of total adjusted EBITA to profit before mcorme tax s provided as follows

2012 2011

£000 £000
Adjusted EBITA for reportable segments 18,198 20,052
Central costs {9.582) {10,685)
Finance costs (2,138) {1 555)
Underlying profit before income tax 6478 8412
Share option expense {541) (409}
Non-recurring costs (4,002} (2398)
Amortisation (1,244} {L315)
Profit before income tax 691 4290
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Reportable segments’ assets are reconciled to total assets as follows

2012 2011

£000 E0DO
Total segment assets 111,046 102283
Unallocated
Short leasehald land and buildings - head office 350 406
Total assets per balance sheet 111,396 102689
Revenue generated by geographical segment

2012 2011

£000 ECO0
Urated Kingdom 226,022 189829
Republic of Ireland 1,257 3669
Total 227,279 193498

Of the revenues generated in the United Kingdom £222,788,000{2011 £188,055,000) are generated from customers in the
Umted Kingdom and the tatal of revenues from customers from other countries s £3,234,000 (2011 £1,770,000) Allof the
revenues in respect of the Republic of Iretand are generated from customers in the Republic of Ireland  Of the total assets i the
United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland £61,593,0006 {2011 £62,092,000) and £ml (2011 Ert) respectively relate to non-
current assets {other than deferred tax assets}

Expenditure on property, plant and equipment of £1,198,000 {2011 £960,000} was incurred in the United Kingdom
Expenditure onintangible fixed assets of £451,000 (2011 Eml)was incurred inthe Umnited Kingdom No amounts inrespect of
expenditure on property, plant and equipment or intangible fixed assets were incurred in the Republic of Ireland

No single customer generates mare than 10% of totatrevenues

4. Expenses by nature

Group égég ggéé
Changes inwnventones of finished goods and consurnption of goods held for resale 167,773 138070
Employee benefit expense [note 6a} 31,000 28742
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {note 13} 1,060 795
Amortisation of intangible assets [nate 12) 1,244 1,315
Non-recurring costs {note 5) 4,002 2398
Foreign exchange gains {98) {19)
Impawrment ta trade and other recewvables 8 (191)
Operating lease payments 4,234 3249
Other aperating costs 15,227 13294
Total cost of sales, distribution costs and admunistrative expenses 224,450 187,653
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5. Non-recurring costs/(credits)

The amounts recognised as non-recurring costsf{credits) are as follows

2012 2011

E0CO ECDO

Compensation payments 678 1,264
Business closure costs 659 -
Gain on disposal of trading actwity (75} -
Business review costs 881 734
Net curtaitment gatn on cessation of defined benefit scheme - (333}
Contract implementation and business start up costs 1,859 733
4,002 23498

Compensation payments relate to amounts paid to ex-employees of Graup companies Business closure costs and gan on
disposal relates to the closure of non-core activities Business review costs relate to costs incurred by the Group inrelation to
management's commitment to improve operational efficiency Cantract implementation and business start up costs relate to
costsincurred with setting up the Truline business The curtalment gawn anses following the closure of the defined benefit
pensian scheme to future acerual, net of costs incurred

6a. Employee benefit expense

2012 2011

£000 E008

Wages and salaries 26,961 25508
Social security costs 2771 2584
Share based payments (note 26} 476 342
Pension costs - defined benefit (note 24} (24} (378)
- defined contribution (note 24) 816 676

31.000 28742

Included withen the above figures are compensation payments to ex-employees of £678,000(2011 £1,264,000)

Key management compensation
Key management are the executive Directors, non-executive Dhrectors and the senior management teams of the trading drisions

Thetr employment costs during the year were as follows

2012 2011

EQOO £000

Salaries and other short term employee benefits 2125 2026
Post-retirement benefits 140 146
Share based payments 330 299
2,595 2471

A detailed rumenical analysts of Directors’ remuneration and share options forms part of these financial statements This
analysis s included in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 25 to 29 and shows the highest paid Director and the number
of Directars accruing benefits under money-purchase personal penston schemes

&b. Average number of people employed

2012 2011
Number Number

Average monthly number of people (including executive Directors) employed

Sales and marketing 387 388
Production and distribution 467 394
Administration 129 129

983 911
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7. Auditors' remuneration

Services provided by the Company's auditors and its associates

During the year the Group {including 1ts overseas subsidiary) obtained the following services from the Company’s auditors and its
associates

2012 2011
Group £000

Fees payable to Company's auditors for the audit of the Company and consolidated financial statements 45

Fees payable to the Company's auditors and its associates for other services expensed n the income statement

- audut of Company’s subsidiaries ao 77
- nterym review fee 10 10
- audit-related assurance services 25 -
- taxation compliance services 25 20
- taxation advisory services 17 -

202 152

8. Finance costs

2012 2011
Group £000 £00D

Finance costs

- bank loans and overdrafts {1,604} {1102)
- finance lease liabihties (38) (55)
- other financiat charges {169) (119)
- customer procurement card charges (327) (279)

(2.138) {1555)

Customer procurement card charges relate to costs incurred i processing customer payments

9. Income tax expense/(credit)

2012 2011
Group - £000 E£000

Current tax

Urnited Kingdom corporation tax 181 792
Adjustments inrespect of prior years 17 (816)
198 (24)

Deferred tax {note 15)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 129 278
Impact of change in the UK tax rate (35) (84)
Adjustments inrespect of prior years 71 (182)
165 2
363 {22)
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Tax on items charged to equity

2012 2011
£000 £000

Deferred tax credit on share aptions {note 15}

The standard rate of UK corporation tax changed fram 26% to 24% with effect from 1 April 2012 The Group tax charge for the
year differs from the standard rate of corporation tax of 24 5% (2011 26 5%) The differences are explained below

2012 2011
£000 £000

&

290
Income tax at the standardrate of UK corporation tax of 24 5% (2011 26 5%) 169 1137
Tax effects of
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 141 &0
Utihisation of previcusly unrecognised tax losses - (127}
Re-measurement of deferred tax - change 1n the UK tax rate (35) (84}
Adjustments in respect of prior years 88 {1 008}
Total tax charge/f{credit) for the year 363 (22)

Factors affecting future tax charges

The effective tax rate in the near future 1s anticipated to be sumidar to the standard rate of corporation tax

Duning the year, the relevant deferred tax batances have been re-measured as aresult of the change in the UK man corporation
taxrate to 24%, which was substantively enacted on 26 March 2012 and was effective from 1 April 2012, and to 23% which
was substantwely enacted on 3 July 2012 and will be effective from 1 April 2013 A further reduction to the UK corporation tax

rate has been announced reducing the rate to 21% by 1 April 2014 and 20% by 1 Apri 2015 The change had nat been
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and therefore has not been reflected in these financial statemments

Details withregard to the avalability of unrecognised tax losses that may be offset against future taxable profits are given in
note 15

10. Dividends

2012 2011
£000 EOOQ

Amounts recognised as distributions in the year in respect of

Ordinary shares - interim dividend 2012 - 3 6p per share . {1,302) -
Ordunary shares - final dividend 2011 - 7 8p per share {2.811) -
Ordinary shares - interim dividend 2011 - 3 6p per share - {1297}
Ordwnary shares - final dvidend 2010 - 7 8p per share - {2798)

{4.113) {4 095}

The Directors have proposed a final dividend of 3 6p per Ordenary share {total £1,302,000), payabieon 11 July 2013 to
shareholders on the register at the close of business on 17 May 2013 The dividend has not been included as aliability as at 31
December 2012
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11. Earnings per share

{a) Basic

Basic earnings per share Is calculated by dwiding profit attnbutable to owners of the Company by the weighted average number
of Ordinary shares in 1ssue during the year excluding Ordinary shares held by the EBT

'w

R

Profit attributabte to owners of the Company (E000)

Waighted average number of Ordinary shares inissue (000} 36,081 355874
Basic earnings per share {pence} 09 120
{b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share 1s calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of Ordinary shares outstanding to assume
conversion of all ditutive potential Ordinary shares The Company has one category of dilutve potential Ordinary sharas, being
share options For share options, a calculation ts undertaken to deterrmine the number of shares that could have been acquired at
fair value {determined as the average annual market share price of the Company's shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options

2012 201t
Profit attributable to owners of the Company (£000) 328 4312
Woeighted average number of Ordinary shares inissue {'000) 36,081 35974
Adjusted for share options ('000) 89 a5
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares for diluted earrings per share (000} 36,170 36069
Diluted earmings per share (pence) 09 120

{c} Underlying earnings per share

Underlying earmings per share s calculated by dividing profit on ordinary activities after tax (before the after tax effect of non-
recurring costs, amortisation and share option expense) by the weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue duning the
year excluding Ordinary shares held by the EBT

2012 2011
Profit attributable to owners of the Company (E000) 328 4312
Amortisation {net of tax) 939 966
Share option expense 541 409
Non-recurring costs {net of tax) 3,022 1763
Underlying profit attributable to owners of the Company (£000) 4,830 7 450
Wesghted average number of Ordinary shares inissue ('000) 36,081 35974
Underlying earnings per share (pence per share) 134 207
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{d) Underlying diluted earnings per share

Undertying diluted earnings per share s calculated by dividing profit on ordinary activities after tax (before the after tax effect
of non-recurring costs, amortisation and share option expense} by the weighted average number of Ordinary shares in 1ssue
during the year excluding Ordinary shares held by the EBT

2012 2011
Profit attributable ta owners of the Company (E000) 328 4312
Amaortisation (net of tax} 939 966
Share option expense 541 409
Non-recurring costs {net of tax) 3,022 1763
Underlying profit attributable to owners of the Company (EGG0) 4,830 7 450
Woaighted average number of Ordinary shares inissue ('000) 36,081 35974
Adjusted for share options ('000} a9 a5
Waighted average number of Ordunary shares for diluted earnings per share (000) 36,170 36069
Underlying diluted earnings per share {pence) 134 207
12. Intangible assets
Customer
Goodwill  refationships Brands Software Total
2012 £000 £000 £000 £000 E000
Cost
At1 January 2012 50253 8503 3938 201 62895
Addifions - - - 451 451
At 31 December 2012 50,253 8,503 3,938 652 63.346
Accumuiated amortisation and impairment
At1 January 2012 - {2,520} {1436) (198} (4 224)
Amortisation for the year - (847} {394} {3) (1 244)
At 31 December 2012 - {3.437) {1,830} (201) (5,468}
Net book amount
At 31 December 2012 50,253 5.068 2,108 451 57.878
Customer
Goodwill  relationships Brands Software Total
2011 EQQO ECOD E000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 2011 50253 8503 3938 201 62835
At 31 December 2011 50,253 8,503 3,938 201 62,895
Accumnulated amortisation and impairment
Atl January 2011 - {1700) (1,034) {175} [2509)
Amortisation far the year - {890) {402) {23} (1,315)
At 31 December 2011 - (2.580) (1,436) (198) (4.224)
Net book amount
At 31 December 2011 50,253 5913 2,502 3 58,671
Net book amount
At 1 January 2011 50,253 6,803 2,904 26 59,986

Customer relationships have 7 2 years (2011 8 2 years)and brands have 5 Syears (2011 85 years) before the assets are wnitten down

in full Software costs are amortised over three to five years from date of purchase
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Company
The Company had no intangible assets (2011 none)

Impawrment of goodwill

In accordance with 1AS 36, Imparment of Assets, the Group regularly monitors the carrying value of its goodwill and reviews it
annually or more regularly if there are indications that goodwill may be impaired For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows {cash-generating units) and
goodwill 15 allocated to these cash-generating units The allocation 1s made to those cash-generating urits or groups of cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination inwhich the goodwaili arose

The components of goodwid| by business segment {which represent cash-generating units} are shownbelow

2012 2011
£000 EODO
Managed Procurement 19,116 19116
Business Critical Services 31,137 31137

50,253 50253

A review was undertaken at 31 December 2012 to assess whether the carrying vatue of goadwill was impaired by reference to
value in use calculations The value in use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets and forecasts as
approved by the Beard of Directors for a five year period and then into perpetuity based on no changes to the underlying strategy of
the business Cash flow projections beyond the five year peniod are extrapolatedusing the estimated growth rate referred to below,
and are considered appropriate as it 15 expected that there will be no significant changes in the aperation of these businesses

The key assumptions in the value-in-use calculation were

* cash flow projections for the five year period are based upon recent observable performance of the Group, including budgeted
gross margin and expected operating cash nflaws,

* the pre-tax weighted average cost of capital (WACC) for the Group1s 12 4% (2011 12 0%} The Group believes that the rnisk
profiles retating to eachbusiness segment are not significantly different, hence the same WACC 1s universally apphied across
all cash-generating umts, and

* long-term growth rate of 2 5% which s not greater than the long-term growth assumption for the sector

Whilst management believe the assumptions are realistic, it ts possible an impairment would be wdentified if any of the above key
assumptions were changed significantly For instance, factors which could cause impairment are

* significant underperformance relatve to the forecast results,
+ afurther detenioration in the wider economy, and
* anincrease in the Group’s WACC

The value-in-use 1s based upen anticipated discounted future cash flows Management believe the assumptions used are
appropriate, but in addition have conducted sensitivity analysis to determine the changes in assumptions that would resutt in
an impawrment

Based on the results of the current peniod impairment review, no impairment charges have been recognised by the Group in the
year ended 31 December 2012 Having assessed the anticipated future cash flaws the Dractors do not constder there to be any
reasonably pessible changes i assumptions that would lead to such an impairment charge in the year ended 31 December 2012
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13. Property, plant and equipment

Group
Short

Freehold leasehold

land and land and Plant and Office

buildings bundings machinery equipment Total
2012 EQOGO E£000 £000 £000 £000
Cost
At 1 January 2012 849 2809 2519 597 6874
Additions at cost 169 - 1029 1,198
Disposals - (959) (182) {L141)
At 31 December 2012 949 2,978 1,560 1444 6,931
Accumulated depreciation
At ] January 2012 {117) (1391) {1511) {439) {3558)
Charge for the year {28) (422) {417) {193) {1060}
Disposals - - 733 179 912
At 31 December 2012 {145) {1.813} (1,295) {453} (3,706)
Net book amount
At 31 December 2012 804 1,165 265 g91 3225

Short

Freehotd leasehold

land and land and Plant and Office

buildings buddings machinery equipment Total
2011 £000 £000 £000 EDGO £000
Cost
At1 January 2011 944 2173 2662 615 6394
Additions at cost 5 660 138 157 960
Disposals (24) {281) {175) (480}
At 31 December 2011 949 2,809 2519 597 6874
Accumulated depreciation
At1 January 2011 (89} {1187} (1475} {475} (3 226)
Charge for the year (28} {228} {400} (139) {795)
Disposais - 24 264 175 453
At 31 December 2011 (117) (1,391) {1.611) (439) (3.558)
Net book amount
At 31 December 2011 832 1418 908 158 3316
Net book amount
At 1 January 2011 855 986 1,187 140 3,168

The net book value of assets held under finance leases was £181,000 (2011 £807,000] and 15 within the plant and machinery

category

The Group leases various vehicles and machtnery under non-cancellable finance lease arrangements The tease terms are

between one and six years, and ownership of the assets e within the Group

Company
The Company has no property, plant and equipment (2011 none)
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14. Investments in subsidiaries

Company

At 1 January 8.615 8206
Options granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings 541 439
At 31 December 9,156 8615

The Directors consider that the carrying value of the investment is supported by the value of the underlying assets

Detatls of the subsicharies are as follows

% Shareholding
Country of

Name of company Nature of business incorporation Company  Subsidiary
office2office (UK) ple Non trading halding company England 100%

Olwe 1 Lumited Non trading holding company England 100%

Truline Logistics Limited Managed Procurement England 100%

Banner Business Services Ltd Managed Procurement England 100%
Banner Business Supplies {lreland) Liruted Managed Procurement Republicofireland  100%

Banner Document Services Ltd Business Critical Services England 100%
Accord Office Supplies Limited Managed Procurement England 100%
TripleAre Limited Bustness Critical Services Republic of Ireland 100%
AccessPlus Holdings Limited Non trading hotding company England 100%
Access Plus Marketing Services Lirrited Bustness Critical Services England 100%
Banner Business Supplies {Pensions) Limited Non trading - trustee far pension England 100%

scheme only

Access Plus Limited Non trading holding company England 100%
Access Plus Print Management Limited Non trading* England 100%
Access Plus Marketing Logistics Limited Non trading England 100%
AdversionLimited Non trading* England 100%
Alpha Data Supphes Limited Non trading* England 100%
Alpha Litho Lemited Nan trading* England 100%
Alpha Office Limsted Non trading England 100%
Alpha Stationers Limited Non trading* England 100%
Banner Business Supphies Ltd Non trading* England 100%
Bannar Managed Communicaton Lunited Non trading* England 100%
Banner Managed Serwices plc Non trading* England 100%
Colebrook Services Limited Non trading® England 100%
espoffice Ltd Non trading® England 100%
File-It Limted Non trading* England 100%
First2office Ltd Non trading England 100%
image Zoffice Ltd Non trading England 100%
GL2 Limited Non trading* England 100%
Godfrey Lang Limited Non trading* England 100%
Software Stationery Holdings Limited Non tradng* England 100%
Software Stationery Specialists Lumited Non trading* England 100%
TripleArc UK Limited Naon trading* England 100%

All of the above shareholdings are in the subsidiaries’ ordinary share capital

*Non trading companies which are exempt from preparing and filtng indrvidual accounts by virtue of 394A and s448A of the
Companies Act 2006
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15. Deferred income tax (liability)/asset

f_ Group |

2012 2011

£000 £000

Deferred income tax asset 1,039 1391
Deferred income tax liability (1.283) (1,520}
(244) (129)

The net deferred income tax liability 1s estimated to be payable as follows

Grotp |
2012 2011
£000 £000

Deferred income tax {liabiity)/asset

- to be {paid)/recovered after mare than 1 year (135} 74
- to be paid within 1 year (109} (203)
(244) (129)

The net deferred income tax kability recognised in the financial statements is as follows

Greup J
2012 2011

£000 £000

Tax effect of tming differences

Excess of qualifying depreciation over tax allowances 342 392
Tax losses - 241
Employee share schemes 397 318
Retirement benefit obligations (113) (26}
Prowisions 300 440
intangibie assets {1170) {1,494)
(244} (129)

Asset i Liability |

GFOUD 2012 2011 2012 2011
£000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 January 1391 1801 (1,520 {1,934)
{Charged)/credited to the income statement (note 9) {402} {416} 237 414
Credited to equity {note 9} 50 6 - -
At 31 December 1.039 1391 {1,283} {1520}

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are only offset where there 1s a legally enforceable rnight to offset and there 1s an
intention to settle the balances net
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The movements in deferred tax assets/{liabilities} during the periodis shawn below

Group

(Charged)/

credited 1o
At the income Credited At
1lJan 2012 statement toequity  31Dec 2012
£000 £000 £000 £000
Depreciation over tax allowances 392 (50} - 342
Intangtble assets {1494} 324 - (1170}
Provisions 440 {140) - 300
Retirement benefit obligations (26) (87) {113}
Tax losses 241 (241} - R
Share opttons 3i8 29 50 397
Total (129) {165) 50 (244)

{Charged)/

credited to
At the income Credited At
1lan 2011 statement toequity  31Dec201l
£000 £000 £000 £000
Depreciation over tax allowances 535 {203) - 392
intangible assets {1832 338 - {1494}
Provisiens 576 {138) - 440
Retirement benefit cbligations 210 {235) - (26}
Tax losses 241 - 241
Share options 318 {6) 318
Total {133) (2) 6 (129}

Deferred income tax assets and liabibities are recognised for tax losses and short term timing dif ferences to the extent that the

realisation of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits 1s probable

The Group has not recognised a deferred tax asset relating to non-trade losses of £452,000 (2C11 £491,000) as there are no
expected changes in the operating characteristics of the subsidiary to which they relate that would permut utdisation in future

periods

Company

The Company had no provided or unprovided deferred tax balances in either year
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16. Inventories

Fimshed goods and goods for resale 9,045 8974

The Group consurmed £167,773,000{2011 £138,070,000) of inventories during the year
The provision to reflect net realisable value being less than cost decreased by £331,000({2011 £278,000) during the year

Company
The Company held no inventonies (2011 Enil)

17. Trade and other receivables

Group i Company |

2012 2011 2012 2011

£000 E0GC EQ00 £000

Trade receivables 31,308 24,208 - -
Less provision for impairment (797} (871} - -
Trade recavables net 30511 23337 - -
Prepayments and accrued income 7.271 5573 - -
Other recevables 57 55 - -
Recewvables from related parties (note 30) - - 5,654 9670
37,839 28965 5.654 9670

Receivables fromrelated parties are repayable on demand Included within receivables fromrelated parties 1s a loan to Banner
Business Services Limited of £4,300,000 upon which interest ts charged at arateof 1 75% {2011 175%]) per annum above
Bank of England base rate Interest ts not charged on the other balances

Credit risk inrespect to trade recevables is limited due to the Group's customers being predomunantly comprised of large
companies and public sector entities As a result, the Directors consider that no further credit risk proviston s required in excess
of the normal provision for doubtful recevables

The carrying amounts of trade and other recewables are denominated in the following currencies

| Grois | —T—

2012 2011 2012 2011

E0CO £000 £000 £000

Sterling 36,394 27704 5.654 9,670
Euro 1,047 1175 - -
US Dollar 249 B6 - -
Swedish Krona 149 - - -
37,839 28,965 5,654 9670

Group

Trade recewables that are not past due, amounting to £16,863,000 (2011 £11,551,000) are not considered impaired as
amounts within this category generally relate to a number of independent customers for which there 1s no recent history of
default As of 31 December 2012, trade recewables of £13,009,000(201 1 £11,080.000} were past due but not impatred The
analysis of these trade recewvables (by reference to due date) are aged as follows

2012 2011
£000 £000
Up to 1 month past due 7.142 7883
Over 1 month past due 5867 3197

19,745 11080
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As of 31 December 2012, trade recewables of £1,436,000 (2011 £1,577,000} were impaired and partally provided for The
amount of the provision against such impaired trade receivables was £797,000 as of 31 December 2012 (2011 £871 000)
The individually impaired recesvables mainly relate to (ssues arising from the current economuc chimate These receivables are
aged as follows

2012 2011
EQOO £000
0 to 3 months overdue 334 498
3 to 6 months overdue 233 335
Over 6 months overdue 869 744
1,436 1577

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade recewvables are as follows
2012 2011
£000 £000
At 1 January 871 1309
Increase{decrease) in provision for recawvables impatrment 8 {131}
Recervables written off during the year as uncollectable (82) (247)
At 31 December 797 871

The creation and release of prowision for imparred recetvables have been included in"cost of sales’ inthe consclidated income
statemnent Amounts charged to the provision are written off when there is no expectation of recovering additienal cash The other
classes within trade and other recevables de not containimpaired assets The maximum exposure to credtt risk at the reporting
date s the carrying value of each class of recewvable mentioned above The Group does not hold any collateral as securnty

The other classes within trade and other recewvables do not contain mpatred assets and management consider the credit quahty
of these assets as good - pre-existing customers with no defaults in the previous six months

18. Cash and cash equivalents

Group |! Company |
2012 2011 2012 2011
£000 £000 E000 E0OQ

Cash atbank and inhand 1725 1,169 - -

Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts include the foliowing for the purpose of the cash flow statement

[ Group 1 Company ]

2012 2011 2012 2011

E£000 £000 EQQO EDDO

Cash at bank and in hand 1,725 1169 - -
Bank overdrafts (note 20) (13.469) (8e67) - -

(11,744)  (7.498) - -

19. Trade and other payables

Group ] Company ]

2012 2011 2012 2011

£000 £009 E£000 £000

Trade payables (39,452} (33336) - -
Social secunty and other taxes (5.223) (3.143) - -
Accrued expenses and deferred income {14,525) (11883) (24) {24}
Payables torelated parties {note 30) - - (1) (1)
{59,200) (48362) (25) {25)

020 plc Report and Accounts 2012

63




64

Notes to the Financial Statementsfortheyea;ended 31 December 2012 I

20. Borrowings

Group ]
2012 2011
£000 £000
o T 7 ST S A | s | ]
Non-current

Bank borrowings (12,228) (17.083)
Finance leases (94) (426)
(12322) {17.515)

Current }
Bark averdrafts {13.469) (8,667)
Bank borrawings (4,828) (2338)
Finance leases (138) {299)
(18,435)  (11304)
Total borrowings (30,757) {28819)

The Company does not have any borrowings {2011 E£ntl)

Bank borrowings

Bank borrowings mature in 2015 and bear interest at a floating rate in the range of 230 to 325 basis points above LIBOR Bank
borrowings are secured by an all assets debenture and a cross company guarantee onall assets of the Group The Company forms
part of the cross guarantee structure

The bank overdraft includes invoice discounting arrangements and cash book overdrafts

The repayment profile of bank borrowings (including overdrafis)is as follows ( Bank barrowings |

2012 2011

EQ00 £000
Within one year or on demand (18,297} {11,005)
Between one and two years (3.828) {3338)
Between two and three years {8,400) (3838}
Between three and four years - (9913)

{30525)  (28,094)

The borrowings are denominated in Sterling

The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current borrowings are as follows

[ Carrylng amount 1L Faw value |
2012 2011 2012 2011
£000 EQoO £000 £000

Bank borrowings (12,228) (17.089) ({i3,722) {19 934)

The fair value of the current borrowings equals therr carrying amounts, as the impact of discounting 15 not significant The fair
values of bank barrowings are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the market rate at 31 December 2012 of
4 0% Included in the above are debt arrangement fees of £272,000{2011 £411,000)

Fwnance leases

The fair value of the Group's lease obligations is not considered to be matenally dif ferent to their carrying value
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Total aggregate future mimumum lease payments under finance leases, together with the future finance charges and present
value of the net minimum lease payments are as follows

[ Minimum lease payments |

Group 2012 2011
£000 £000

Within one year 146 327
tn more than one year but not more than five years 94 438
tn more than five years 14 16
254 781

| Futura financa charges |

2012 2011

£000 EOOO

s o o]

Within ane year 8 28
In more than one year, but not mere than five years 9 24
Inmore than five years 5 4
22 56

| Net minimum tease payments |

2012 2011
£000 £00Q
Within one year 138 299
In more than one year but not mare than five years 85 414
In more than five years 9 12
232 725

Finance leases are secured upon the assets to which the lease agreement relates

21. Financial instruments by category

Cash and cash equivalents and trade and other recewables (excluding prepayments) are classified as loans and recewvables for
the purpose of IFRS 7

Borrawings, finance leases and trade and other payables {excluding statutory labilities) are classified as other financial habilities
at amortised cost for the purpose of IFRS 7

22. Current income tax asset

I Group H Company |
2012 2011 2012 2011
£000 £000 £000 £000

Current incoma tax asset 155 98 - -
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23. Provisions

Property Onerous
duapidations leases Total

At ] January 2012 (527)

Charged to the income statement
- Additional provisions - {121) (121)
Utilised during the year 32 613 651
At 31 December 2012 {495) (121) {616)
2012 2011
Maturity profile of provisions E0DQ £000
Current {121} (6786)
Nen-current (495) (470)
At 31 December (616} {1146)

Property ddapidations relate to the expected cost far making good leased properties at the end of their lease The provision
relates to various properties with different lease end dates ranging between one and eight years

Onerous leases relate to the future cost of historic lease abligations whereby the Group has no future econormic benefit from the
lease These leases have varying end dates between one and five years

Campany
The Company has no provisions {2011 £ml)

24. Retirement benefit asset
Group

The Group s the contributing employer to a defined benefit pension scheme, The Banner Business Supplies Pension Scheme
(8BS scheme), zll the members of whichwere formerly employed by Her Majesty's Stationery DFfice and were members of the
Principal Conl Service Pension Scheme who first elected to transfer funds accrued to The Stationery Office Lirmited Scheme and
subsequently elected to transfer funds accrued to the BBS scheme

The BBS scheme commenced on 1 August 2000, when the funds were transferred in by The Stationery Office Pension Scheme
{TSOPS) The scheme 1s funded by the payment of contributions to a separately administered trust fund The scheme currently
has 162 members and was closed to future accrual on 31 December 2011

The latest fult actuarial valuation was carned out on 31 July 2010 and updated te 31 December 2012 by Punter Southall
Limited, a qualified independent actuary The pension costs have been determined on the basis of the results of this valuation

The fair value of the BBS scheme assets at 31 December 2012 amounted to £13,101000{2011 £11,854,000)

Group contributions inrespect of the defined benefit pension scheme for the period were £361,0300(2011 £505,000) Group
contnbutions in 2013 are expected to be approximately £300,000

The Group also incurred £816,000 (2011 £676,000) n respect of Group personal pension arrangements and employees’ own
personal pension arrangemants for staff recruited by The Statwonery Office Limited and Group compantes since 30 September
1996 at rates varying between 6% and 1 5% of pensionable earnings

The outstanding accrual in respect of defined contribution pension contributions at 31 December 201 2 was E166,000
{2011 £203.000)
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The amounts recognised in the batance sheet inrespect of the BBS scheme are determined as follows

2012 2011
EDCO £000
Present value of funded obhigations (13,878) (12 476)
Fair value of plan assets 13,101 11,854
(777} {622
Unrecognised actuarial losses 1,267 727
Asset in the balance sheet 490 165
The amounts ncluded in the fair value of plan assets are as follows
2012 2011 2012 2011
Expected retumpa £000 £000
Equities 60% 60% 9919 9,116
Bonds 30% 30% 2,033 1,195
Property 50% 50% 634 979
Other 03% 03% 515 564
13,101 11854
The amounts recognised in the income statement are as foliows
2012 2011
£000 £000
Current service cost - (219)
Scheme interest cost (614) (735)
Expectedreturnon plan assets 638 752
Curtailment - removal of dl health allowance . 222
Curtailment - removal of salary fink - 394
Net actuarial gains recognised in the year - (36)
Income/{expenses) recognised in the income statement as administrative expenses 24 378
The movement in the fair value of plan assets s as follows
2012 2011

E0DD

5

Faur value of ptan assets at 1 January .

11,854

£000

11,299

Expected return on ptan assets 638 752
Actuarial ganf{loss) 398 {700)
Employer contrnibution 361 505
Member contributtons - 75
Benefits pad (150} (77}
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 13101 11854
The movement in the defined benefit cbligatton s as follows

2012 2011

E0DO £000
Defined benefit obligations at 1 January {12.476) (13,010)
Current service cost - (219)
Interest cast {614) {735)
Member contributtons - (75}
Actuarial {losses)/gains {938) 870
Benefits paid 150 77
Curtariment - removal of ill health allowance - 222
Curtatlment - removal of salary fink - 394
Present value of funded obligations at 31 December (13,878} (12476)
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The principal actuarial assumptions were as follows

Discount rate 456 50

Expected rate of return on plan assets 53 53
Future safary increases nfa nfa

Future pension tncreases

-transferred from TSOPS 24 25
-earned 1n Scheme 31 32
Inflation - RPY 31 32
Inflation - CPY 24 25

The expected return on plan assets for 2012 is based an market conditions at 31 December 2012 for returns over the entire hfe
of the obligation

2012 2011
£EQ00 EODO

Actual return on plan assets 1,036 52

The weighted average life expectancy derved from mortality tables used to determine benefit obligations were

2012 2011
Years Years
Male member aged &5 {current lfe expectancy) 222 221
Female member aged 65 (current life expectancy} 243 2472
Male member aged 45 (Iife expectancy at age 65} 236 235
Female member aged 45 (Iife expectancy at age 65) 259 258
History of expertence gains and losses
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
£000 £000 E00O £000 £000
Present value of funded obligations (13878) (12476} (13010} (12762) {10 487}
Fair value of plan assets 13,101 11854 11299 9181 7128
Deficit in the plan (777) (622 1711 (3581} (3359)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets 398 (700} 938 1172 (2 283)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme habilities - 768 - - ©(199)
Company

The Company has no retirement benefit habilities {2011 End)

25. Ordinary shares

[ 2012 R 2011 ]

Issued and fully pad
Ordinary shares of 1peach 36,308,984 363,090 36308984 363,090

138,155 Ordwnary shares are held by the EBT{2011 269,356), for which the right to recewve dividends has been wawed
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26. Share options
Exercise

Number Number Number Number Number priceper  Exercisable Expiry

1lanl2 grented exercised expired 31Dec12 share
Date granted
March 2009 160606 - {B0,303) (80 303) - Olp 040312 040313
Aprd 2009 370067 - (50898) (319169} - Olp 300412 300413
May 2010 641961 - - (43891) 598,070 0lp 210513 210514
September 2010 58,333 . - - 58,333 Olp 240913 240914
June 2011 1466796 - - - 1,466,796 0lp 200614 200615
September 2012 - 935622 - - 935622 0lp 180915 180916
SAYE scheme
Date granted
Aprit 2008 (5yr) 99,035 - - {1 406} 97,629 1194p 010513 311013
Decemnber 2011 (3yr) 376324 - - (22959} 353,365 1168p 010115 010715
December 2011 (Syr) 890401 - - (16,694) 73,707 1168 010117 010717

3,263,523 935622 ({131201) (484422) 3,583,522
Exercise

Number Number Number Number Number price per Exercrsable Expiry

llankl granted exercised expired 31Decll share from date
PSP
Date granted
December 2007 189 566 - (25781) {163785) - 0Olp 010411 011011
April 2008 542649 - {(73800) {468849) - 0lp 240411 241011
March 2009 160606 - - - 160,606 0lp 040312 040313
April 2009 370067 - - - 370,067 0lp 300412 300413
May 2010 669,292 - - (27331) 641961 0lp 210513 210514
September 2010 58333 - - - 58333 0lp 240913 240914
June 2011 - 1466796 - - 1,466,796 0lp 200614 200615
SAYE scheme
Date granted
October 2005 {Syr) 9179 - - {9179) - 2244p 011210 310511
Aprid 2008 {3yr} 162677 - (110144) (52533) - 1194p 010511 311011
April 2008 {5yr) 110289 - - (11254) 99,035 1184p 010513 311013
December 2011 {3yr) - 375,406 - (3.082) 376,324 1168p 010115 010715
December 2011 {Syr} - 90,401 - - 90,401 1168p 010117 010717

2272658 1936603 (209725) (736013) 3,263,523

Options which expired in the year to 31 December 2012 reflected employees leaving the Group, non-achievement of
performance conditions and the expiry of the term of exercise

At 31 December 2012, there were 16 members (2011 18 members)with an average option holding of 181,176 (2011
149,876} of the performance share plan and 135 members (2011 154 members) with average holdings of 3887 (2011 3674)
of the Save-As-You-Earn {SAYE) scheme
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NOtES tO the FiﬂanClal Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

The performance share plan was introduced on 21 December 2005 toincentivise sentor management relative to the long term
strategy of the Group Finanaial performance conditions apply to exercise of the options, based on the Group’s earnings per share
growth and, for awards made up to 2010, a comparative measure of total shareholder return (TSR} against the companies in the
FTSE Small Cap Index For awards made after 2010 the TSR measure has been replaced by growth nshare price On 18
September 2012, awards were granted over 935,622 shares based on a weighted average share price, of the three days prior to
award, of 137 5p per share 131,201 options were exercised during the year under review The weighted average share price as
at the date of exercise was 138 9p per share The weighted average remaining contractual hfeis 17 years

The SAYE scheme was first introduced in October 2004 The exercise price s deterrmnined at a 20% discount te the closing mid-
market price on the date of invitation The schemes have either a three or five year vesting period The weighted average
remaining contractual lifers 20 years

The summary of share optians by expiry date inrelation to the above schemes were as follows

Exercise price Sharas
Expiry date Grant per share 2012 2011

¥

REE B

2008 1194p 97.629 629708

2014 2010 0lp 656403 700294
2015 2011 228p 1820161 1843120
2016 2012 Olp 935622 -
2017 2011 1168p 73707 90401

3,583522 3263523

The IFRS 2 and assaciated national insurance costs, befare tax, incurred i relation to the above schemes were as follows

2012 2012 2011
IFRS 2 NI IFRS 2

EOOO £000 £coo

PSP

Date granted

Aprit 2008 - - 26 -
March 2009 2 3 (12) -
Aprii 2009 2 (4} (80} (4)
May 2010 (222) {32} 187 32
September 2010 20 3 16 4
Jure 2011 546 83 204 35
September 2012 B2 12 - -
SAYE scheme

Date granted

October 2005 (Syr} - - (8) -
October 2008 (3yr) - - 4 -
Octaber 2008 (5yr) 7 - 5 -
December 2011 (3yr) 34 - - -
December 2011 (Syr} s - - -

476 65 342 67
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The following valuation assumptions have been applted in respect of schemes introduced in the current year The assumptions in
respect of prior year schemes may be found in the prior year annual report and accounts

Performance share plan - September 2012 option value information

Farr value per option® £105
Option exercise price E0 D01
Werghted average share price £1375
Valuation assumpticns
Expected option term 325 years
Expected volatihity 229%
Expected dividend yreld 82%
Risk free interest rate 09%

*Estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing models
Expected volatility was determined by reference to historic share price information of similar compantes

All of the above relate to equity settled share-based payment transactions
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Notes to the Financial Statements i e eor entedst ecenser 2012

27. Cash generated from/(used in) operations

; Group | ——
2012 2011 2012 2011
£000 £000 £000 £000

Profit before income tax 691 4,290 97 4097

Adjustments for

Amortisation of intangible assets 1,244 1315 - -

Depreciation of property plant and equipment 1,060 795 - -

(Profitjfloss on disposal of property plant and equipment (14) 17 - -

Finance income - - {97} (97)

Finance costs 2,138 1 665 - -

Income from investments - - - {4 000)

Share option expense 476 342 - -

Increase n inventories (71) {2981) - -

{Increase)/decrease in trade and other recewvables {8,874} {134) 4,016 {53)

Increase wn trade and other payables and provisions 9,886 5561 - -

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 6.536 10870 4,016 (53)
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28. Analysis of movement in net (debt)/cash

Group 1 }anua':; Cash Non-cash 31 Decemb.::
2012 flow movements 2012

E£000 £000 £000 £000

Cash at bank and i hand 1169 556 - 1725
Bank overdrafts {8667) {4.802) - {13,469)
(7498)  (4246) T L744)
Term loan - current {2338) 2500 {4,990) {4,828}
Finance leases - current (299) 329 {168} {138)
Total current net debt {10 135) (1417) (5,158} {16.710}
Term oan - non-current {17.089) - 4861 {12,228}
Finance leases - non-current {428) 222 1106 (94}
Total non-current debt {17515 222 4971 {12,322}
Net debt {27 850) (1195) {187} (29.032)
At At

1 January Cash Non-cash 31 December

2011 flow movements 2011

£000 £000 E0QC £000

Cash at bank and in hand 3693 (2524} - 1169
Bark averdrafts {11552) 2885 - {8,667}
(7859 361 - {7,498}
Term loan - current {2 500) 2,500 {2,338} {2,338}
Finance leases - current (309) 288 (278} (299)
Total current net debt {10 668} 3149 {2616) {10,135}
Term loan - non-current {20,000} - 2911 {17,089}
Finance leasas - non-current (704) - 278 (426)
Total non-current debt {20704} - 3,189 {17,515}
Net debt (31,372) 3149 573 (27.650)

Nen-cash mavements relates to the movement of finance leases and movements i the term loan between non-current and
current, movements in bank arrangement fees and new finance lease agreements taken out during the year
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NOt@S tO the FiﬂanClal Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

29. Guarantees and other financial commitments

Bank guarantees

The Company is a member of the Group banking arrangement under which 1t is party to unlimited cross-guarantees nrespect of
the banking facilities of other Group undertakings, amounting to £17,500,000 (2011 £20,000,000)subject to facility at 31
December 2012 The Directors do not expect any matenal loss to the Company to anse i respect of the guarantees

Operating lease commitments Land and butldings Other
2012 2011 2012 2011

GFOUp £000 £000 £000 £E00O
Amounts payable under non-cancellable operating leases .
No later than one year 2,512 219 2,049 1,518
Later than one year and no later than five years 4,350 4543 3671 2,544
Later than five years 1,362 1,331 201 8

8224 8064 5.921 4,070
Company

The Company has no ebligations under operating leases (2011 none)

30. Related parties
Group

Directors’ and key management compensationis disclosed innote 6
Company

Curing the year the Campany had the following transactions with its subsidiaries

2012 2011
£000 £000

Dwvidends recewved - 4000

Interest receved 97 97
97 4097

As at 31 December the following amounts were due tof{from) the Company from/(to) its subsidiaries

2012 2011

EDGO EO00

7 LLEDT bov i i ; Tk T e
Banner Business Services Limited (note 17) 5,654 9670
Banner Business Supplies {Ireland) Limited {note 19) (1) (1)
5,653 9669

Other than disclosed above, all movements in balances due to and fromrelated parties relate to the movement of cash and other
working capital transactions between Group companies
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Five Year Summary

2011 2010
ECQD £000

Revenue 227,279 193498 207631 187 464 180999
Operating profit - before amortisation, negative goodwill

non-recurnng costs and share option expenses 8,616 99567 12176 13986 13425
Amortisation {1,244) (1315) {1 258) {999} (624)
Negative goodwll - - 188 - -
Non-recurring costs (4.002) (2 398) (5.3356) (3645) {1812)
Share option expense {541) {409) (138) (363) (23)
Operating profit 2829 5.845 5632 8979 10966
Netinterest payable {2.138) {1555) {1 000) {856} (1,359)
Profit before tax 691 4,290 4632 8123 9607

Caputal employed

Shareholder funds 19,540 22842 2230 2253 20160
Statistics

Basic underlying earnings per Ordinary share* 13 4p 207p 251p 27 1p 241p

Basic earrungs per Ordinary share 09 120p 120p 17 2p 185p

Diluted earmngs per Ordinary share 09 120p 120p 17 1p 185p

Dmdends per share 72p 114p 114p 11 4p 110p

Share price (period end} 124 0p 1395p 1245p 145 5p 655p

*Bastc underlying earnings per Ordinary share before the after tax effect of non-recurring costs amortisation ond share option
expense, has been disclosed to give a clearer understonding of the Group's underlying trading performance
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Compaﬂy lncome Statement for the year ended 31 December 2012

2012 2011

£000 E0Q0
T T e WA A 1L T
Revenue - -
Cost of sales - -
Gross profit - -
Administrative expenses - -
Operating profit - -
Incorne from fixed asset investments - 4000
Profit before interest and income tax - 4,000
Finance income 97 97
Profit before income tax 97 4,097
Income tax expense - -
Profit for the year a7 4,097
D] Callear
Charrman
25 March 2013
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Shareholder Information

Financial calendar 2013

Announcement of final results for the year ended 31 December 2012

26 March 2013

Annual General Meeting
22 May 2013

Payment of final dvidend on Ordinary shares to shareholders on

the share register at the close of business on 17 May 2013
11 luly 2013

Registrar and transfer office

Enguiries about adrmirustrative matters relating to
shareholding and dividends should be addressed to the
Company's registrars

Capita Regstrars

Northern House

Woodsome Park

Fenay Bridge

Huddersfield

West Yorkstwre HD8 OLA

Telephane 0871 664 0300 (calls cost 10p per minute plus
network extras)

International +44 {0) 208 633 3399

Lines are open 8 30am to 5 30pm Monday to Friday
or by email to ssd@capitaregistrars com

Share price

Information cancerning the day to day movement of the
share price of the Company can be found on our website
www office2office co uk or that of the London Stock
Exchange www prices londonstockexchange com The share
price can also be found in the appropriate sections of
national newspapers under the classification ‘Support
Services’ and under the ticker code ‘'OFF L or ‘'OFF"

Unsolicited mail

As the Company's share register is, by law, open topublic
inspectton, shareholders may receive unsoticited mail from
orgamsations that use it as amailing list To reduce the
amount of unsolicited mai you recetve, contact

The Matling Preference Service
FREEPOST 22
London W1E 7EZ

Telephone +44 (0) 8457034599

Website wwwmpsonline org uk

Company Details

Registered office

St Crispins

Duke Street
Norwich NR3 1PD
United Kingdom

Telephone +44 (0) 1603 631 102
Fax.+44 (0} 1603691 106
Website wwwoffice2office couk

Email info@office 20ffice biz

Professional advisers

Independent auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
The Atrum

St Georges Street

Norwich NR3 1AG

Broker

Panmure Gordon & Co
One New Change
London EC4M 9AF

Financial Advisers

N M Rothschild &5ons
1 Park Row

Leeds LSt SNR

Solicitors
Macfarlanes LLP
20 Cursitor Street
London EC4A LLT
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Head Office and Reglstered Office
StCrspns Duke Street, Norwich, NR3 1PD

Telephone 0845226 7780 www officeZoffice couk
Registered In England and Wales
Registered number 04083206




